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Q. D~ you remember being with General Burgoyne, foon after the laft council, 9. 
"Upon a vlfit to an out poft near Fort Anne? 

A. I perfeCtlf recollect it. 
"~ Had General Burgoyne a confiderable efcort of Indians with him? 10. 
A. He had~ 
Q. Did parr of that creon, on a fcout from that poft, fall in 'with and take I I. 

·a parr of the enemy, who were laid in ambulh or the purpofe of killing or king 
the g~neral, and thofe who \! ere \! ith him? 

A. They did. 
~ What were the fcn iments of the captaio taken on th t occaGon r fpe ing u . 

. his treatment from the Indians? 
A. He faid he was treated with much humanity, and I perf, cUy remember hat 

prifoners brought in ou many other occations by the Indians, declared that lh y h d 
been ufed with the fame degree of humanity. 

Q. Does your Lordtbip remember General Burgoyne's receiving at Fort Anne, the 13. 
cews of the murder of Mifs M'Rea ? • 

A. I do . 
. Q Did General Burgoyne repair immediately to the Indian camp, and c 11 th m to I .... 

council, affiLteti by Brigadier General Frarer? 
A. He did. 
0.:.. What paffed at that council? • 15. 
A. General Burgoyne threatened the culprit with death, infifted that he fhould 

.be delivered up; aod there were many gentlemen of the army, and I own I \ as 
one of the number, who fcared that he would put that threat in execution. Mo­
.tives of policy, I believe alone, prevented him from it; and if he had not pardoned 
·the man, whieh he did, 1 belie e the total defeCtion of the Indians would have en-

• ..{ued, aad the confequences, on their return through Canada, might have been 
dreadful; not to (peak of the weight they would have thrown into the op­
.pollte fcale, had ' they gone over to the enemy, , hich I rather imagine would 
have been the cafe. 
~ Do you remember General Burgoyne's reftraining the Indian partie frc 111 16. 

-going out without a Britilh offict:r or proper conductor, who were to be rcfpo 1-

fible for their behaviour? 
A. I do. 
~ Do you remember Mr. St. Luc's reporting difcontent amongft the Indians, 17. 

oon after our arrival at Fort Edward? 
A. I do. 
Q How long was that after enforcing the reftraints above mentioned? ) 8. 
A. I can't exafrly fay; 1 fhould imagine about three w eks or a month. 
~ Do 5 your Lordfhip recollect General Burgoyne's telling Mr. t. Lu~, that J 9. 

he had rather lofe every Indian, than connive at their enormitic, o( ufing lan-
guage to that effi a? . 
, A. I do. . 

~ Does Jour L orClihip remember what paffcd 10 coun il with the Indians at 2.0. 
fort Ed\vard ? 
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_~ . To the b f1: of m)' recolleCtion, much the fame ex oreation to ael: with hum'a. 
nity, and mu ch the [,. m~ rewards were off\!red for {aving their pri[! ners. 

Q . Do you recoll a the circumf1:ance of the Indians dcfiring to return home at 
th at time? . 

A. I do, perfeCtly we11. 
Q.. D o you rem mber tha many quitted the army without leave? 
A. I do, immed i rely after the council, and the next norning. 
0,;. \Vas it not t he general opinion that the dcfeai n of the Indians, tben and 

afterwards) was caured by the reftraint upon their CFlldtics and habits of plun­
der? 

A. It \-vas. 
~ Had you reall..>O to bdieve that the expedition to Bennington was much 

defired by General Rei tlefc I, and that it was his willi to have it conduCted by Lieu­
ten ant Colon I Baume ? 

A. It was always jmagi ned in the army, that rt 'was h'$ willi, and l'hat 
Colonel Baurtfe was appointed to the command of it in complim nt to 
h im, 

<t:.. Did you know the corps of Briti!h, commanded by Captain Fraler, which 
made part of that expedition? 

A. They were volunteers from the Britilh regiments, and alfo ood 
very high in the opinion of the .. my, from their gallant behaviour on all 
occafions. 
~ Do you remember General Burgoyne's vifiring the detachn eot after it was 

a{f(!mbled, and conferring w ith Colonel Baume ? 
A. I do. 
Q Did Colonel Baume appea fatis.fied with the ftrengtb of his corps? 
A. I cOIH'er[ed with Colonel Baume, and with feveral officers under his. . 

command, and they app ared p rfeetly fatisfied, at leaft 1 heard no complaint 
Ir m thClifl; the only ~nxiety they cxpreifed was, left the defrinatioD of that 
corps fhould become known to the en my. 
~ Does your Lordfhip remember General Bu~goyne's receiving. in the night, a. 

letter from Lieutenant Colonel Baume, exprcffing h.e found the enemy :io gr ater 
force than he expect d ? 

A. I do. 
Q Do you remember Sir Francis Clarke, General Burgoyne's aid du 

camp, being rent with orders to Colonel Breyman to march immediately to 
fupport him? 4-

. A. I' do. 
. Q. Did you communicate the fame order to General Reidefcl at th (: me 

ttme? . 
A. I elidA 
<t Was Colonel Bteyman the neareR: corps for the. purpofe (If that fupport ? 
A. It WIlS. 

Q .. Did Bri~dier General Feafer at aU times treat lour Lordibip with great. 
confiLI &lee 1 4,. 
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A. I wrrs often with Gener :l Frnfl!r, and he frequentl ' talked 'V'ithou rcfel' c upon 
niatters which he Wall not particularly bound to con ceal. There , rer rtain matter f 
inc Iligence which it would have been improper for him to menri n t ny bo ly. In 
thi s cafe I cannot boaft fo much of hi confidence,:1 t fup ie tha he ould b v 

pened his mind to me on matter which he would h v 0 11 al I from tbe reO: f 
his friends. 
~ Have yon not frequently been prefent ben Gener I Burg 'ne and G eneral 3"'. 

FraCer difcuffed the object of the campaign, and cODver(ed freely on eh cir umll.nces 
of the time? 

A. I have. 
«:.. Din our Lordlhip ever, in pre(cnce or nbfence ~f G ncral Burgoyne. hear G • 3 • 

nual Frafer expr fs a diCapprobation of puffing the Hu foo' Ri er? 
A. 1 ncv.er did? «:.. D o you kno\v or bdieve tbat the idea of forcing our wny to Albany .. • reo 35. 

valeot throughout the arD1Y l 
A. In every convc:rfation I had with different officers of the a.rmy, I never remem­

ber once to have heard it doubted, but that we were to force our w y. 
Q. D id the army pafs the Hud(on' River with alacrit r ? 56. 
A. It is impoffible for any army to have b en in higher lpirits than they w re 

at that rime, or more defirolls of comil'g to an engage ment w 'eh the n my. 
Q.,Do you not coocei e, that to have mained r oiled behinli the udfon' 31· 

River, at the time the army paGed it and advanced, would ha e caH a damp 00 [he 
fpirits of that army and a r fletli n on their General? 

A. From the eagernefs of the army t advance nnd thc great uneafine~ that 
was difcernible through it on every delay, I apprehended that it ould nut have I CIl 

orberwife; and t think that G eneral Burgoyne' chara er would not h ve RoC? 
• very high .either with the army, chi, country, or the enemy, had he haltcd at Fort 

Edward. 

f . 

Q. 1)0 you recolleCt the march up to th enemy on the 19th of Septem- 38• 
ber? 

A. I do. 
~ Will you pleafe to 'Clcfcribe it ,? 3" 
A. The army marched in three divifion5; th German line flanking, he ar iJl ery 

and bn gn~ purfued the coune of the river through the meadow, and formed 
the left hand divifion; the Britifh liQe marthed parallel to it at fr) me cliftunc br ugh 
the wood!l, smd form d the centre divifion _ General Fra~ r' corps, j h the rcna­
diers and ligh t infantry of the G~rmans, were obliged to make a large derolll through 
the woods, and formed the right hand divifion or column. Beyond this, on lr. 
Tight, t ere were, as I underftand, flanking parties of light in :ARtry and Pr vin­
cial ? 

Q. Was the country, over which the army paffed, inttrfeCted with a d <'p 40. 
cain? 

A. It was one of the deepeft I ever faw. 
Q. Which column ,vas firft attacked? fl. 
A. The a:ivanccd party, confifting of the picquets of the centre column, b ing. !cut 

H 2 . forwarus, 
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forwards, under the command of. Major Forbes, to explore the y.ra.y by which· that 
column was to )'lafs, fell in with a confioerable body of the rebels, pofted in a hcmfe 
and behind fences, which they attacked , and after a great deal of fire, the detach­
ment nearly drove in the body of r bels; but 011 finding that the woods quite 
round them were filled with the enemy, they were obliged to retire- to the main 
body. 

Q. Was the march fo performed that when General B~lrgoyoe' formed the line of 
the Brititb infantry, General Frafer's corps were ready upon their right to fupport· 
them? 

A. General Frafer, on hearing the fire of Major Forbes's party, detached two com­
panies to fupport them, which came up jufr after that engagement was ov ,r; and; 
on their appearance the enemy finding that our troops 'were in firength, quitted the 
pon they had before occupied, and, immediately after this, the whole line was formed 
with the urmofr regularity. I would explain, that when I fpeak of the line, 1. do not 
include the left hand column which was compofed of Germans, and which did m>t: 
come into the 1~lle or bto action till late in the day. 
~ How long did tpe action lafl: ? 
A. From three o'clock, I think, till very near eight. 
Q. How long were the 20th, 2 I fr, and 6'21d regiments engaged?' 
A. During the greateft part of that time. 
Q.. W as the aCtion w.ell difputed b, the enemy? 
A. It was, very obftinately. 
Q., Wa~ your Lord/hip near the perfon of General Burgoyn~ during that aCtion" 

except when YOll were employed to carry orders? 
A. Yes. 
Q. Were not different attempt made by the General's orders to charge the enemy 

with bayonets, and did not thofe attempts fail by the heavinefs of the enemy's fire . 
and thicknefs of the woods? 

A. There were many attempts made for that purpofe, and they all failed except 
the 1aft, when the Brititb troops fin ally drove them out of the field. 

Q When part of thl! German troops did get into aCtion that day under General: 
Reidefel, how did they 'beha ve ? 

A. I heard their behaviour fpoke of in the higheft terms; they marched up to 
the enemy with great coolneCs and fteadineCs, and gave them, as I was told, three 
vollies by word of command from their officers. 
~ Can your L ordtbip fpeak to the 10fs futbined by the three Britilh regiments, 

the 62d in particular? 
A. The lofs was very confiderable; but I don't recolleCt the numbers. 
Q: Wer thofe three Britifh regiments in a condition to have attacked the enemy 

the next morning? 
A. Their numbers were fo reduced, that I apprehend they were not. 
Q. From the 10Cs of killed and wounded, particularly of officers, would it have­

been defirable to have brought thofe three regiments into aCtion for the next ten 
days? . 

A. In !efs than ten days the fiate of thofe regiments certainly would not have 
been 
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been much mende ; I therefore apprehend, that if they wer not in (t condition to 
e brought into a ion the next morning, their in3biliry would hn e frill continued 

for tho'e ten a 'S. 
~ ao the army made a movement to gain the I ft of the enem '. entren h­

ments be ore the redoubts were confrruaed that commanded (he plain near:h riv r, 
would not all the bareaux, !tores, and hoCpitals have b en expr>Ld to atta k? 

A. It certainly would ha\'e been fOr 
o you recollect the [carcil), of forag on the w O:·fill of the ri\ er? 

A. I do perfe Iy. 
auld not the bridge of boats, conO::-ua d for the purp fc f foraging to 

the caft fide, have alfo been expofed lx:forc the redoubt, au v m l1li n d, were 
raifed ? 

A. They certainly would , had it not been for thofe redoubts and a work called 
the crete du pont, which was railed for the prote ion of the brid reo 

52. 

0.:.. Do you recolleCt how long it took to raife that" redoubt, to thro\ the bridge, SS 
and raiCe the 'Tlte du pont? • 

A. If 1 recolleCt ri!?,ht, the bridge itfclf was finifiled in one night; the m king nd 
com pleating the other works took fome days. 
~ Does your Lordfhip remember neral Burgoyne menti ning 0 you 10 

confidence, the receipt of a letter from Sir Henry linton, and hi hourly 
pe ation of his attacking the Highlands, an hi opinion that hi fucccfi th re 
muft difiodge the enemy withoul attacking their elltren hments? 

A. I pert. Iy recolleCt the General mentioning all this (0 m . 
0.:.. Was you -near General Burgoyne in he aCtion of the 7th of October t 
1\. I v. as. 
Q:.. Do you recolletl: what orders you carried? 
A. I do . 
Q.. What were they?· 
A. The firO: orders I recolleCt to have carried, were to poO: {jfty men uncleI' the 

command of a captain of the 20th rep;iment, to the left of the detachment of the 
army, i-n order, in fome meafure, to Joio them to the advanced works of elleral 
Frafer's camp, and, in cafe of any accident, to protcCt the detachment, fuould they 
find it necelfary, to retire thither. 

The next orders I carried were to Major General Phillips, a the end of the aCtion, 
acquainting him, that as that detachment feemed much diCord r d from the enemy 
having turned both their flanks, that it was necelf,HY to draw it as fo n as pomble 
back to th~ camp, which feemed menaced with an attack; the care of thi G"neral 
Burgoyne committed to Gener 1 Phillips, while he himfelf returned to the amp, ill 
order to t ke prop r rnea[ures for its defence. On our return thither the works of 
the camp were ttuallyattacked as General Burgoyne had forefeen, and I was then em-

loyed to colleCt what troops I fhould meet, and to order them to thoft: parts where 
they were moft wanted. Soon after this, the enemy having got round the right of 
our camp, we e peCted an attack upon our rear, and I then was difpatched with 

rders from General Burgoyne to Brigadier General Hamilton, for all the works in 
3 ~ 
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tne rear of the camp, which had been previoufly conftructed, to be manned with , 
fuch [oldiers a he cou ld [pare from the defence of the frnnt. . 
~ Does your Lordfhi [ know what orders Sir Francis Ciarke was charged with, 

at the time he received his wound? ' 
A. I met Sir F rancis Clalke as I was fearching for General Phillips, and ac. 

q uainted him witli m.y orders, telling him at the [am,e . time., that as th~ thick. 
nefs of the W od might prevent my finding General Phllltps dtreCtly, I wdhed he 
wouhl allin Ine, ill order that no time might b loft in delivering thofe orders; that 
was the Jaft time I faw Sir Fra~cis Clarke" and I believe that foon afterwards he re­
ceived the wound of 'which he died? 

Q.. ·",Vas it dark before General Burgoyne had a certainty that Col. reyman was 
kill ed. and his poi\: carrietl by the enemy ~ 

A. It was (0 dark that tbe officer, who I believe firft brought the intelligence of 
'it, feeing a number of men round the fires of that camp, took them ' for Germans, 
and was not convinced of hi error till he was fired upon by them, as they proved 
to be a party ~f the enemy who had forced the orks. 

Q.. Did General Burgoyne ufe any efforts to rally the Germans who were 
returning from tbe aCtion, and to perfu, de them to recover Colonel Breyman's 
poft ? 

A. He certainly did his utmon endea'fours for that purpofe, which however were 
ineffectual from the darkncfs of th night, and the entire confufion in which they 
v,rere. 

Q. Were any other tro ps at hand that could hav-e been [pared for that IPur~ 
pore? 

A. There cer ain1y were not; every regiment was occupied in defence of its own 
lines which were not certainly overmanned. 

Q... In the heat of the action do you recollect feeing General Reidefel about the 
time lhat the Germans, on the left of the Britifh artillery, were giving way? 

A. I do. 
Q... Was not General R idefel exerting himfelf to renore order in his troops? 
A. General Reide fel app ated to me to have behaved, on that oecafipn, in every 

way as became a brave and intelligent officer. 
Q. Was the retreat of the army in the night of the 7th made in good order, and 

a new pofition taken by the time it was day .. light? 
A. It certain! y was. 
0.:.. Was tbe army under arms the whole day of the 8th, and in continual expecta~ 

tion of action 1 
A. They were, and indeed were cannonaded durin the greateft part of that da ., 

and the advanced corps in particular, who ere pofted on a hilL, were un r almoft 
n continual fire from the riflemen of the enemy. 
~ Do you rec Jea the circutn!b.nce of General Frafer's funeral on the afternoon 

of that day? 
A. [do, perfeCtly well; the redoubt in which he was buried was very heavily 

cannonaded during the ceremony, and even previous to this tbey nred at thofe who 
, . attended 
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attended the corpCe on its ~ y thi ber, 'hich I [ul pere W8!I llc-cidenbl, nd pro-
ceeded from the enemy's ~ eing a numb rof pie togetn r. 

Q. v.. no were the chie perfons who arrendcd {lOdt funeral? 
A. All the gen rals of the army, th ir (lid du camps, an 

were not attach d to any particular oft, hieh t to:t time \ re v r \'-. 
Q. Was the r treat of the army n th night of the 8tn, nd n rhe d y nd r rt 70 • 

of the nigh of the 9th, made in good ord~r ~ 
A. 1 t w 5 made in perf«tt- ood ordtr. 
Q. \ II t was the weach r on che day of the 9th r 
A. xceeding wet. 

. , hat was the fiate of the troops, in point of fi tigue, 
Saratoga? 

7 1 • 

7'1.. 
wh n thry arri ' d nt 

A. They certainly muil: } ave b n much fati u d, from the 1 ngdi of time they 
had been llndtr arms, and more parti lit rly 0 frOI the b ntr 0 the ro , ace -
fioned by the rains. 

0.: When it was day-light the next morning:, did ou fc e any pa of me en Illy 71. 
upon the plain. at Sara ga,. on the ground where: our 3nil1t:ry w a c::rw rd 
pofted? 

A. I don't recollect. 
Q.. Does your LorJ!bip recolleCt feeing a corps of til enemy on· th othe' fide the 74. 

Hudfon's Riveroppofite to S rat ga? • 
A. Pc::rfett ly well; and tn y feemed in force. 
~ D YOll remember the circum{hnce of a bat ry op, ning fnom th t' ~orp ? 
A. I do perfett-Iy wdl. The g neral, neral hillips, and 'v(;r lather ClntJc-

men were at dinner. We wer.e aiL obliged to T<tmove, fe m, finding ourfc res in 

75 

the range of that battery. 
• Q. We being in the range of that battery, mull: it not n~ceffi rity have Clam- 76~ 

mantled the ford on the Hudfon's River? 
A. It certainly did command that ford. 
Q. Do you recollea Lieut. Col. Sutherland being rent with a dctachm nt of 77 .. 

regulars and provincials from SarawO'a, to cover a p rt.y of workmen employed to 
repair bridges, nd render th roa pr C icab ? 

A. I perfett-Iy recalled: it. 
<t.. Do you r call a: fOIl what reafon Colonel Sutherl 

called? 
and the ~gular .. were re- 78 .. 

A. I underftood it was on the appr henfion of an aaion. 
<l.:.. Does your LordOlip recolle t diffi rent uts brin )ng r port!! or dl ell my.'s 79--
. g in ofi'effion of the country b tweeo Sara oga and lion Ed",ard~, on both lid s 

af the riv ? 
A. I.do. 
Q, Do )lou reme r General: Bur oyne's mentioning" in' confidence to you, dif- So. 

ferent idea of forcing t e ford over Hudfon's n.iver;. f cuttin~ away by the 
y' . .. j hr, nd t empring a r p' march Albany. or by OIght march to gain 

the for s ab " Fort Ed ard ? 
I do perfed:ly r member t he mentioned to me all fe ideas .. 

Q ,. Did 
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Q.. Did you ever hear of an ofrh made by General P nillips (0 make his way co 
Ticonderoga with a ~ody of troops? 

A. No. 
Q. In the intimacy in which you lived with Major General Phillips, myfelf, and 

the officers in General Phillips's family, do yuu not think you fhould have heard of 
fllCh an offer had it been made.? 

A. I apprehend that I ihOllld have heard of It. 
Q.. Did your Lordfhip hear of General Phillips offering to attempt an efcape 

through the woods, with one or two guides, for the purpo[e of putrillg himfelf at 
the head of the troops at Ticonderoga. for the future defence! of that place r 

A. :1 heard it mentioned (ince I came to England, in {ome commcm converfa­
tion; but I never heard it hinted ac while I was in America. 
~ The day before the cou~il of the generals and 'field officers was called, can 

your Lordlhip fpeak of the nate of things in general at Saratoga? 
A. The ftate of our army was certainly as bad as pomble. Their n mbers were 

few, their }yovifiol1s iliort, and their pofition not a good one, owing to the nature 
of the €ountr.y, which rofe to the diftance of fame miles, one hill overtopping that 
which was next to it. 

Q. Do you know any officer of that army who, in that fituation~ thought we had 
a right to ·more than honourable terms? 

A. rOur fituation, in the appreh;nfion of every olle there with whom I converfed, 
did noC entitle us to mure. 

Q Did the army in general look on the terms obtained, namely, the power of 
ferving their country in other places, to be advantageous as well as honourable, and 
more than they had a right to expect ? 

A. I believe they certainly did; and that few per[ons in the army expected fo good 
terms as thofe which were granted. 

Exa1t~ineJ by other Members of the Committee, and by Gmera1 Burgoyne occajionally. 

Q Did the Indians leave the army till after the battle of Bennington? 
A. Great numbers did, and at many different times. 
Q. Were not fome Indians on the expedition to Bennington! 
A. There were. 
Q.:,. Was the expedition originally rent out to Bennington? 
A. My fituarion in the army not entitling me to be in the counca of war., and not 

being employed on that expedition, I was Qf courfe not entrufred with tbe orders that 
were given .to Col. Baume. 

Q.. f-hveyou'reafon to fuppofe that General Reidefcl or Colond Ba m~ had a par­
ticular knowlc::d~ of that part of the country., f() as to make it particularly propet' · 
to give Colonel Haume the command of that expedition? 

A. I believe there was no officer in chat army -of f.ufficienr: rank to have com­
manded flleh .an expedition~ who ,ever· bad been in that particular part of the 

Q The 
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. Q . The intention of the expedition being, 3S appears by the papers Gn the t k, 9 J. 
to found the difl olition of the people of that ountry, was that p, rt f the coun-
try peopled with Germans, as m' ny other parrs of the country are? 

A. I can't exactly fpeak to the dc:fcription of ch people of th t country. as r 
was never there rnyft:lf; bur there were emplo cion chat xpe ition number of 
provincials, many of whom were of that very country; and I a pI" 'hend that th 
common foldiers of a regubr army are not th immC'di.lre p ople who are exp Cl. '1 
to found roe minds of .any country to which they nrc fent. 

Q., As your Lordfilip mentioned the alacrity with whi h the arm)' pam d t 9. 
Hudfon's River, did the army in general th ink themfelves at that time inad 'quat to 
the purpofe of forcing their w y to Albany? 

A. The opinions of an army, who cannot be acquainted with the inttlligence thnt 
has been received, are often erroneous. Th army was in high fp irits, anti did not, 
I bdieve, doubt of reaching Albany. 
~ Did the Gener~l then doubt of reaching Alban, ? 
A. I , re~dly don't know. • 
Q. Were the rebels' entrenchments comp1eted on the 19th of Septemb r '~ 
A. I never f.1.W the ent-renchmenrs at all. 

93· 

Q.:.., How a:, our army employed between the 19th of September and tllC 7th of 9'5. 
Ot1:ober? 

A. The army itfeJf was ernployed in ftrengtl ning its pofi tion . 
~ Did it take the army eighteen days to itrcngthcn its poficion before it mad any 96. 

movement'? 
A. I can't exat1:1y fay. They were working all the time. 
~ What works wcre exe Llted in that t imc ? 9'7. 
A. There were numbers of redou bts ere cd; tI e t~te-d u-pont; lin s before the 

• camp; outworks to tbe lines, in wh ich gU:lf Is and picquets were ,placed. :lod b:rt-
.ceries. 

Q. How many redoubts were ereCted? 
A. 1 think in all there mufl: have been five or fix. 
Q \-Vas the ereB:ing tho[e works full employment for ei hteen clays? 99· 
A. I am not an engineer, or 1 c rtain ly fi10uld ende.lvour to anfwer chlt queftion. 
~ Were.all <hofe works neceffary, in your o,pinion, for an army tl at meant to l C • 

march forward and attack the enemy? 
A. They were neceffary in our particular fiwation, bein,g witLi half..a mile of the 

enemy, to whom we were oppofed, and being inferior in numbers. 
Q.,Does your Lordfuip know whether the enemy though t it neceffary ro fortify 101. 

rhemielves with redoubts? 
A. I don't know what tbe fpecies of their fortification was; but I have been 

1llways [old ,thar great labour had bClen employed On their works ; and what iillall part 
] faw of them convinced me of it. 
~ H d you not :"lform.lcion from deferrers or friend~ wh:lt tbe enemy was 102. 

doing? 
A. My fituation in that army did not entitle me to recei ve tha intelligence. When 

;.ny perron came to me to inform me that he had been cI11ployed in gaining fuel r in­
tell igence, ~ dury was to bring him to the Ge'1.crai. 

I 
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E V IDE NeE. [Earl of Harrington. 

0.:.. V\T .. S it not a matter of notoriety in the army, that the enemy received reinforce-
ment between tLl 19th of September and the 7th of Oftober ? . 

A. The manner of receiving 'ntelligence in an army fddom tranfptres; the army 
might guers, bm I believe they knew nothing. 
~ \Vas it not underftood that the rebels h:1d fuffered a much greater lofs thart 

the klng's troops on the J 9th of September? 
_'\. I twas. 
0.:.. Was not the whole, or nearly the whole, ohile rebel armyenga ged? 
A. I don't know; J apprehend the whole was not engaged. 
~ Was our army in general, in your apprehenllon, in as good a condition on 

the 20th of September as the rebel army, who had {uffered much more? 
A. The rebel army was 10 numerous that their 10fs was not equally felt with 

ours. 
~ What number had YOll rearon to fuppore t 1e rebel army confifted of on the 19th 

of l'prember? 
A. I alway~ underftood they were very numerOllS. I never heard their numbers 

exaCtly. 
Q,:.. Was not the fcarcity of foraO'e forefeen by every body? 
A. Thofe with whom I converkd did not forefee it to the extent in which we expe­

rienced it . 
~ Was it prudent, in your Lord~ip's opinion, to bring, or attempt to bring, up­

wards of fourteen hundred horfes to attend the army, in a country fo deftirute of forage? 
A. I never heard that the horfes in our army were thought toO numerous. On aJil 

occafions a fcarcity of them was complained of. 
Q. Do you know how many horres were allowed for the baggage of each 

regiment? 
A. I don't know. 
Q Does your Lordfhip know how many horfcs were employed about the train 

of artillery? 
A. I don't recolleCt; but the returns are on the table. 
~ Was the heavy artillery brought back from Stillwater, on the retreat of the 

army to Saratoga? 
A. \Ve had loft fome fmall part of it, and the refl: was brought to Saratoga. 
Q. Did th brin~ing back of that artillery delay that retreat or not? 
A. An army with cannon certainly cannot march fo rapidly as one without 

cannon ; but cannon always creates a delay which armies have been content to put 
up with. • 

Q. Was it necelfary, in your opinion, in the fitllation in which the army retreated, 
to make thei r retreat as expedi tious as pollible ? 

A. The army appeared to me that it did make its retreat as expeditious as pof­
fible. 
~. \Vould the leaving of heavy artillery behind, in your opinion, have made a 

differen·ce of four miles in the march? 
A. I can't conceive that it would. The enemy were in force behind us; not 

havincr numbers to contend with them. it wOllld ha\Te been a very dcfperate circum-
1\ nee to have abandoned our canno)l, in cafe of an attack. 

4 ~Wa$ 
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Enrl of Hartington.] E. t D E c 
Q:. ere the heavyar iller},. in effi·a, of any ufe'n th l t retre ? 
A. I don't recollect as it happened, that th y were of an)' olhl.:r uf,· III n th 

1 I • 
f 

their not bing turned ag inft u . 
Q.;,. Might not thole cannon have b en fpiketl, and their trunnion' lave: L c: n 1 17 . 

knocked off, to have rendered them uf, l~f r 
A. I underll:and that the fpike! in cannon are cafil\, remov 1, and that it i, no 

an eafy matter. I believe almofi an impoffibility, \ ith any touls tlUl rc rri:d ill 
an arm , to knock off the trunnions of brau annon. 

Q M igbt not the retreat hu\'e be n acce1er:neJ by leaving u hind a gr at p rt f I IS . 
the baggage ? 

A. I don't thillk it would. I do not rem mber that we "\'cre Hllpt Oil :Ie OU llr. 

of any particular impediment. . 
Q D es yom Lordfhip know Bt \ hat time int lli gence was r ei d in General 119 . 

. Burgoyne's army of the failure vf Colonel, t. Leger' e.>q edition? 
A. I think it muft have been in the month of Augutl. 
0.:. "'·as notthat before the paffing of lIudfl n s River? 
A. I don't recollect the exact date of re<: i ing th tint Iligence. 
ct. "Vas it in the month of AUgLlft ? 
A. J cannol Ie-II. I heard of it fome time after by :lccidcnt. 

• 

Q. "Vas there any heavy artillery with the aml)', prop rlr t' alled? 
A There was nOlle of the heavy fort; we had medium twd l'e pOLlnderq , and 

J.!o . 

) 21. 

I '2'- . 

twO twenty-four pounders, which we took fr~m the enemy at Queuer.:, which \\ Cl e 
, 'ery much lighter tban thofe [\ elve-pouncl r . 
~ From the ft:lte of the fatigue of the troops, when they arrived at S-nratoga, J 2~. 

do you apprehend they could have continued their march though thc.e had becn ByGcn .nur-
no artillery? gO)'Il(·. 

A. The army was certainly very much fatigued. I believe th y could h:lve got 
but very little further. They certainly were not in a fiate for a I ng mar b. 

Q.. If the battle expected at Saratoga had been on the plain, would not the r 24· 
heavipft artillery we had have been one of our ben d pendencies? n ' Grnrral 

A. It certainly would ~ it would have given us a manifeft fuperiority in that BurKo), 

particular. 
Q. If the army had not been provided ,\'ith the number of horfes they had, hy 

what means would their provifions or bateaux have been tranfi orted in places where 
the river was not navigable? 

A. The tranfportation of the bateaux and provifions could not certainly have 
been r.arried on. 

12 5. 
Dy General 
litll go),ne . 

Q.. \\crc there not fuch places on the Hudfon's River between Fort Edw:1Td 126. 
and Albany? 

A. There were. 
Q. I it not at :tny rate a principal objeCt with every army, and of a retr ating one 

i~ particular, to PI' ferve their artillery if it be poffiule, even at the expence of 
fome Jabour and delay; and fo r tbe ufe they might b of to them afterwards, as 
reB as on the retreat? 

I 2 A. I 

By I t' rM , 

BUI ( J II 

1 2 7. 
lly or Ii r 
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60 

.. 
J 32.. 

133· 

13~' 

J 35. 

136• 

137· 

q . 

139· 

E V IDE NeE. [Earl of Harrington. 

A. I apprehend tne cannon 'are feldom abandoned, but through abfolute ne-
effi!,'. . 

) : vVhether in gellcrnl you can inform the committee, ",;hether the army had 
a onfidence in the g oeral ? 

/I. Th y certainly had a confidence in the genera), and 1 do not believe that 
th y have altered their opinion. 

Q. Did thl'! army then in general, and the officels in particular, entertain a 
f a \'Olll' ble opinion of the general's conduCt, cap city, auJ attachment to them 
in the ari.oU5 fcenes in which he was engaged, and more particularly 01 very 
tryinCl' occaGons ? 

A. r don't recolleCt: that any officer, with whom I have had converfation. has 
eva expre{[ed hi nfelf in differetlt terms, and I believe there never was al'! army 
more c:l e ~rvetl l y pleafed with the conduct of their gelleral. , 

Q. "Vlletl er the army exprelfed any diffatisfaCl:ioll at [he general's return home; 
thar i5, whetber they thought he came with any pmpofes nor friendly to them, 
or looked on themfelves 'as de1erred by him? 

A. I wi') n o ~ with the army when General Burgoyne came away; but I have 
co!werred wirh many officers who have come from it, and they exprers no 'dif­
fatisfaCtion on hat bead, much 1 fs looked on or conlidered General Burg yne's 
inten tiolls a~ inimical to th 111. 

Q.. 'Vhat ,,,as the ftate of the Arerican artillery, and how was it ferved ? 
A. Except on a few occafivns, do n9t remember their having made much 

ufe of their cannon; ~ thought on thofe occafions that they . fcrved them flo vlf, 
btl' not ill. 

Q... Whether all circLl'mfi.ances confidered at the time of the affair of Sarat g:l, 
the retreat of the army was pra,Cticable, either with ~r without artillery? 

A. I thought it 'V as impraCticable. 
Q. Whether after the convention· at Saratoga you went to Albany? 
A. Ye. 
Q.. Whether you ha any opportunity of obferving the nature. of! the cOUIHr " 

if it was {hong or woody, dear or' open ?, 
A. Very firong and woody, and a greut number of hills. 
Q.. What was the difrllnce ? 
.A. I don't' exa&ly recolleCt>; about thirt r·two miles. 
Q. W'J the ficuatiun of Albany a thong ficuaticw, or was it c mmal1ded Uy 

hill s rOllnd it ? 
A. The fttuation of Albany was in a bottom very much com manded. 
0.:.. If the arm~' h(ld penetrated to A1bany, fr m whence might they have drawn 

their fl.lbfiftcnc , if the coun ry had been againfi them? 
A. I don'c kil')W enough of the country to anfwer that C')uefi.ion . 
Q. Mull: th y not h v drawn their fubfiO:enc from New Y:ork ? 
A. 1 apprehend 0, if tbc.v vere not mafter of the Mohll\) k C U'Ilt y. 
Q. Had you any opportunity of obferving tbe ex. ent· of clear vr ' ultivated Ol n· 

try round Albany? 
A. I can't very j u!lly d fcribe it, not hav'flg gon out of the town of Albany, from 

the time I came into it, till I embarked for ew )' ork. 
Q.:.D 



Major Forbes.] 

Q Do ou think that, cir umfianced 3S the army as after th en 3n'ement of qo. 
the 19th of ptember, it would have been more advant geous to bav r turned th n 
to have frayed and tortified the camp? 

A. As matters have turned out, it certainly- might; but I believe no one thou 11t 
fo nt th t time. [I" .tbar t • 

MAJOR FORBES called in and examined by Gener~l Burgoyne • 

• 
Q.:,. "VAS Y u major of the 9th regiment, and l)r fcnt , ith that T('giment In r: 

the a ion near 'ort Anne a 
A. I was. 
Q... V/hat wa be behaviour of the enemy on th:lt occafion? 2. 

A. At half pafr t J) in the I 9rning, th y n ac ed 11 in {ront with a beavy and 
"'ell-dire ed fire; a large body f th m pa{fc d the creek on th left. fired fr m 
thick wood acr (s the creek on tbe Jeft flank of the resiment; they ti. n b::g· n t 
re-cro(s the creek, and attack us in the r ar: \e th n to\lIld it ne !far)' to ~ hal e 

nr g~ound, to prevent the. regiments 15eing fllrrollnded; we took poft on the t p 
f a hi~h hill to ur right. As fc on a we had taken pofl:~ the enemy m. e a 

• very 'igorous attack, t nich continued for upwards of two bour ; and they er4 

tainly 'would have forced us, had it not been for fome Indians that arrived an 1 
gave the Indian whoop, which we anfwered wi h three che f5; the rebels foon · f­
t r that gave way. 

Q What command had you on the 19th of S ptember ? z.' 
A. I commanded the p,icquets of the B itifh. . 
<t.. Wa YOll attacked on the march, and with '\ ha degree of vlgO\1r ? 4. 
A. I was attacked with great vigour from b hind ra' ed {pn es, and a houfe} b 

a body of riflemen and light infantry. 
<4. \-Vas you wounded in that affair? S" 
A. Ver early in the day. 
~ Do YOll remember General Burgoyne- bringing up the' Britilh' line to fup... 6. 

port you, and forming at the' firfr opening of the \ ood ?' 
A. I do. 
Q. Did General Fl'afcr's corps arrive preciCc ly in time to occupy the heights on 7. 

the right of the Britilh hne t hen the a ion began ? . 
A. It did, and two companies of light infantry came to my [upporco' 
~ There did General Bl1rgoyne pofr the 9th regiment? 8 .. 

J A A 
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V IDE NeE. (Major l~ 01'bC5. 

A. As (oon as they came out of the wood, tbey filed oft to the l'i O'ht, and 
Were drawn off at a ' fmall difl:ance from the left of General Frafer's .corps, witn 
orders to occupy two houfes, elle company in each, Ilnd defend them to' the laft 
exrremity. 
(~ Had you an opportunity in that fi ultion to obferve the ftre~ of the 

action? 
A. I had while we remained in that pofitioo. 
Q. What was the progre(s of it? 
A. The twenty-firfl: and fixty .. fccond regiments were dr wn up on our left, 

and were attacked about three otclGJ~k on the fame ground whel e rhe picqucts 
had been attacked. About that time I heard a greut deal of firing to my righ t 
\\lith the advanced corps; an officer came up to General Burgoyne, and acquainted 
him that the enemy were endeavouring to turn the left of the fixty-fecond regi­
ment, on which he difpatched an aid-dc-camp with orders to the twentieth regi­
ment to forn'!. ort the Jeft of the fixty-feconcl; immediately after, fome compa­
nies of tbe li ~bt infanrry came to occupy th{' ground the ninth were rawn up 
on; the 'oth were tben ordered behind a dC:!ep ravine, to form a corps-de­
rderve I faw nothing of the aCtion after that. 

Q. What was the ftrength of the ninth regiment on that day before they fuftain­
.cd any lofs? 

A. On tbe 15th of the month e weekly retprn was given in, and, to the 
beft of my recollection, they were two hundred and fifty and odd rank and file 
,fit for duty. 

ct.. What was tbe ftrength of the other regiments in the Britifh line? 
A. 1 cannot fpeak with any certainty, as I did not fee the returns; but on 

talking with dift· rent commanding officers: the four Britifu regiments were about 
one thoufand one huodred, and the advanced corps about one thoufand two hun- , 
dred. 

Q. Where was the. Hventy-fourtb regiment? 
A. With the advancerl corps. 
Q. Where was the forty-feventh regiment? 
A. Six companies of the forty-feventh regiment that were with thilt ~rmy) were 

employed as a guard to the bateaux and pl'Ovifiops, and two with the advanced 
corps. 

<l.:. Where were the other two companies of that regiment I ft? 
A. On,e at Fort George, and another on an ifland in Lake Geotge. 
~ Of the deven hundred which compofed the line on that day, do you know 

how many were loft and difabled in tbe adion ? 
A. I have heard the furgeoll of the hofpital fa)', that there were tnore than 

five hundred of the whole in the horpital, but I can't fpeak to how many of 
the line. 

Q Can you ray hew many were killed? 
A. Ian~ . 
Q Can you fay how many offic rs were killed and woun d ~ 
A. I can"t immediately. 

Q:., Were 



Major Forbes.] E V IDE Ne E. 

Q _ Were the Britilh troops in a condition to h ve attacked an nemy in in- t 9. 
trertCh en s after t~ action ? 

A. A ter the aCtion of the 19th , I went to the hofpit I to et my ouod 
drdfed, and did not join the regiment till the 8lh of 0 oller 1 I call't ther. 
fo re give an opinion of my own: but I have heard fev ral ffi r CIty, tb 
did not think it would have been prudent or right from the 10[s the h d fuftai d 
tht day before. 

Q. Did the regiments begin to be encreafed in their ftrengt.h- from d\ereco er d 20. 
men to any confider blc degree in I fs than eight or ten d, ys ? 

A. Not tha 1 know of. I was at the hofpital at the rime. 
Q. 13 ing in the hofpital, had you occafi 1) to know tha the regiment VI re u. 

{hong r froUl the - receipt of their recover c\ men on the 7th of 0 ober, th n 
they were at an tim~ bet ve n the 19th of September and tbut d , ? 

A. J know tha feveral m n , ere difcharged from t hofpirals fo far re,"over-
ed as to oa Ie t lD to do th ir duty. . 

Q:., At what time did the troops arrive at Saratoga? • 22. 
A. About e'ght o'do k at night on the 9th. 
Q. 0 you know ho long the troops had then been under arm, I"nd without 23. 

repu or regular refre{}:lInent? 
A. Fruit) the 7th in the merning. 
Q:,. Had they be 0 in aC ion, or in Contio t expeCtation of aCtion, during th t ~4:' 

whole time? 
A. 1 , .. as in the front of the arm y, and I heard a great deal of firing in the rear, 

and we confrandy expet ed and look.ed for an :m3ck. 
. Did tbt: battery of the eocm y on the other fide of th.e river at Saratogll com- 2 S. 

mand the fort on that river> 
• A. It did . 

<l.:. Was the ground fuch -00 our fide as would have enabled' our artiJilery to have 26 .. 

fileoced that bat ery ? 
A. It did not appear to me that it could. 
Q. H cJ the paffage of the ford been ffeCted~ and the army hav pr ceeded to- 17-

wards F rt Edw rd, on the eaft fide of th r~ver,. mufi they not 0 ceffilrily have 
paffed Batten Hill? 

A. Undoubtedly. 
'Q Do you remember the ford' at Batten.: lilt ? 28'. 
A . Yes. 
Q. Would it have been poffible for the army to- have pn1l'ed that ford without '1. " 

artillery to cover them, and the enemy pofted on the other fide? 
A. C rtainly not • . I had an opportunity of feeing the twentieth reg' tnent paii 

tbat ford without an enemy to oppofe them, ' and they t ok a onftderable· ti~e, 
owing to the depth of the water, the rapidity of the curren, and the fioncs bemg 
rel'rl'arkable fli pery, fo that {evera! of them fell into the river. 

Q: Vol as you efent at all the councils of war to which the. field officer,. of the 3-o~ 
army were called at Saratoga ? 

A. 1 was. . 

J 
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'E V 'I 0 'E 'C E. {Mnjor Forbes. 

Q.. Do you remember whether General Burgoyne ftated tlle difficulties o~ the time, 
and that he mentioned his readinefs to undertake any meafure they fuould thmk for the 
honour of ,the Britifh arms? 

A. I uo rememb r it. 
Q. Was the council unanimous to treat with the enel!ly on honounible terms P 
A. They were. ' 
Q, When the fil '(l: terms propored by General Gates were read to them, were they 

unanimoLls to rejea them? 
A. They were. 

34. Q After it was decided by a majority of the cOLlncil that the treaty could not 
-be fufpended without breach of faith, were not the council then unamcnous to fign it 

. ·on that day? 
A. As the majority of the couDcil had given it as their opinion that the public faith 

was pledged, the council thought that there was no time .to be 10ft, and that it ought to 
be Iigned immediately • 

37· 

39· 

• 
'Examined 'by other Members of I he Committee and by Gmeral Burgoyne . occajiG1Zally~ 

Q... Do you know or apprehend dlj! ,the rebel camp was completely entrenched on 
the] 9th of September? 

·A. -1 .don't kno • 
Q.., Had you any reafon to believe from information that they co~p~ted their cn­

tt n hments afterwards ? 
A. I underftood they had-I dOh't fpeak from authority. 
Q. Had you reafon to think that the rebels received confiderable reinforcements t 

between the 19th of Septe ber and the 7th of Oaober'? 
A. I did not hear thut they had. _ 
Q. Suppofing the rebels to have received reinfOl;cements, could any acceffion of 

ftrength to our armo/ from the rec0very of .any number yo.u can fuppofe of the 500 
that were in [he hofpital, be equal to a reinforcement of .even 500 men rec ived by tbe 
enemy? 

A. I cannot take upon me to fay . 
. . <l.:.. From being in the hofpital oundf, how many of 'the ,,00 do yam judge 
JOined the army? 

A. I can't pretend to fay. • 
Q. Do you judge in your own opil1ion, putting alLthe .circumftances you can toge­

ther, whether the enemy were more likely to be forced on the 20th of September or a 
·day or two after, than on the 7th of Oaober! 

A. It -is impoffible for me to judge-I did not know their ftrength on t'h(" 
19th of S ptembet:, or what reinforc.cments they received before the 7th 0 

. OEl:oher. 
Q. Did you appr hend the army might have made their .;'Ctreat good to Canada 

immediately after ,the aCtion of the 19th of September ~ 
A. That 



Major Forbes.] E V IDE NeE. 

A. That depended entirely on circllmfrances. 
~Judging froln the circumftances you then knew, what i your opinion? 42.. 
A. I was not more acquainted with the circumft nc s of the 19th eptember 

than with thofe of the 7th of OEtober. 
~ Q:.. If the army had had three w eks more provifions when they be an their retre t, 43. 

would not that have been a material circum 'anc to them to ards m ing goodthc:i 
retreat? 

A. The army could have defended themfc Iv s longer in their entren hmenc at a­
ratoga if they had had more provifions. 
~ Had you known, immediat 1y • feer the aEtion of the t th of pt mber, th 

a letter had been received from Sir Henry Clinton, mentionin hi intention to tt cL 
dlC highlands about that time, would you h ve thought ither a r tr at or n imm diate 
attack on the en my advifeable ? 

A. Certainly not. . 

44· 
Uy Gcner 1 
Burgoyne. 

Q:.. Do you know whether a touncil of w r was called on the 20th f September, 45· 
or immediately afterthe engagement of the 19th of September? Y olil 

A. I don't know that there Wl\S. Mcmb l' • 

Q:.. Did the army in which you [erved, in its approach to Albany, e 'peer co.ope- 46. 
ration from Sir William Howe on the North River? 

A. Wedid. 
<l.:. Do you believe if the army under Sir William How, infread of g~ing 47 ' 

by fea up the Chefapeak to Philadelphia, h d operated upon the orth Iver 
to effeer a junction with Gener 1 Burgoyne's arm)', onfi ring a1ro the pan ic 
tbat prevailed after the taking of Ticonderoga, that the army under eoeral 
Burgoyne would have been made prifon rs? 

A. I fuou1d think not. 
• ~ Did you expect any great oppofition from the r bel army after the taking 4ft 

Ticonderoga? 
A. I did not. 
-Q.. Upon what grounds did you fo pofitively expeer co-operation' with Si Wil- 49· 

Ii m Howe's army? 
A. F rom General Burgoyne s orders. 
Q. Did you ev r fee General urgnyne's orders? 
A. Every day during the campaign. 
G.: By what orders of Gen ral Burgoyne did you t. peCl: a co-operation ~ 
A. arJy in October General Burgoyne gave jt om in ord r that there were po­

werful armies of the King's then co-operating wieR ours. 
Q Pid not thofe orders give fpiries to General Bur~oyn 's army? 
A.. ~ituated as our army was, every pro(peCt of r mforcement muft certainly glv 

u fpJrJts . 

Sf. 

5'1. 

, ~ Did you ever hear of any co-operation before thofe orders of General Burgoyn' 53. 
in October? 

A. It was gen:ra.ly talked of in the army, but not by authority . 
. . W~ethe:, If the 0 rations of Sir Henry Clinton on the North River ha taken 5+ 

place In tIme, It would nOt have been looked on as a very .advaruageou co· operation 
with Gener..al Burgoyne's army? 

K It 



66 EVIDENCE. [Capt. Bloomfield. 

A. It might have been attended with very good confequenccs. 
55. Q.. What fiwt1tion in general. and partic\.11arly with regard to provifions, was Gen~ral 

Burgoyne's army in,_at the tim you mentioned thofe encouraging,hopes of co-operation 
in his orders? 

A. The army was put on !hort alloW!lnc at that time. 
56. ~ Whether in military affairs a powerful diverfion, i.f well executed, is not known 

ofcen to anfwer very effectually the purpofes of co-operatIon? 
A. Certainly very good effects have accrued from powerful divernon!. 

57, ~ If there had been a council of war on the 20thl of September, or immediate y 
after the engagement of the 19th, fuould you. have known of it? 

A. 1 think I muft have heard of it. 
58. ~ Whether, confidering the circumftances of Sir William' Howe's having car· 

ried his army to Chefapeak Bay, you fuppofed, or ever heard it· fuppofed, 
that Sir Henry Clinton would have attempted his operations up the- North 
River fooner.than he did, or previous to the arriv:al of his r.einforoement from 
Europe ? 

A. Not knowing Sir Henr¥ CI.int?n'~ . ftrength, or his orders, nor the force 
the enemy had to oppofe hIm,. It 18 Impoffihle fur me to anfwer that· quef­
tion. 

52.. Q,:. What effeCt: had it on the fpirits of General Burgoynes army when they found 
there was to be no co-operation ~etween that army and the army of Sir William 

1 •. 

2. 

Howe? . 
A .. We. nev,er knew but that there. w.as to. be a co-operation._ 

( Withdrt'ltJ._ 

€AP.T.AIN BnooMPl.ELD, of die Artil1ery; called in,) and' examined. by:· 

General Burgoyne •. 

Q. IN what capacity. did you- ferv.e ih thct campaign'. in .America in, 1.776, aneL 
L777 ~ . 

A. I was major of brigade of the· royal artillery. 
Q,:. a you employed by General Phillips, on your return to ngland, afte 

the campaign of 11776; to. folicit a further. fupply. of artillery for the fervice of 
the enfuing campaign? 

A. On my leaving General' Phillip's at st. John'S; in the month ofi November, 
L776, I was, cbarged. with a letter to Sir Gl1Y Carleton, wherejn he r~omm(nde~, 

4. 1 
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it to make a demant,i of a further fupply of artiller 
plete equipment of 9,n addi~ional numb I' of gun-bo ts fi r th 
Champlain in the enfuing campai n, and like ife for the bo, t ,I 01 e)v t 

be fent out in frame-' or1e. iruy ar) ton. n rufinc th ) tt r, <.Iif • 
proved of th boats being fent Qut, but a PI' veti of the dem n of t1 fl r s 
and artillery ag eable to Gen ral Phillip's requt'ft, n 1 th y ., re a ordin ly 
fent out in ,the beginning of the yenr 1777. 

Q At what time did you join the ' rmy in th c mp .• ign 0 1777? 3· 
A. I joined the ar.IllY at Ticonderoga on the 23d of July. 
~ Did you live in the family of Gen r.l Phillip, and h d you 0 c G tll 4· 

know his fentimenrs refpeCt:ing the artillery d p rtment? 
A. I did chiG!fiy liv with tne eneral, and had fre uent occanon to 1 no\ hi 

fen~imehts Oll the fubjeCt: of the rtill ry in the cour, e of my duty bri d '. 
major. 

0.:.. Did you know, or had you rearon to believe, that Ih proportion of . r .. 
tillery employed that campaign W i according to th opinion and. I' ommenda.~ 
tion of General Phillips ? 

A. I can have no doubt but that an offic r of Gener 1 Phillip' rllnl and 
extenfive experience muO:: have determined that point. 
~ WhQt was the diftribution of the artillery after the ,enemy evacu t d Ti- 6. 

conderoga? 
A. The light brig de of artillery proeee e with the army by . the way of 

Skene{borough; the park brigade and ftor s were con v y~ acro s L ke rg 
in bateaux. 

Q. Was ~lO~ a confiderable portion of artillery of the henvi f\:: lind ith r left 7 
at St. John's, fent back. from Ticonderu a, or difp fcd of in eCl<:ls? 

A. It was: there were left at Ticonderoga fix heavy twel .pounders, one light 
• twelve- ounder, four light three-pounders. four royal mortar nd tw lve '0-

horns. Left on board the Roy 1 George, two heavy twenty-four-pound rs~ two 
thirteen·inch mortars, two t n-inFh mortars, four eight-inch mortars, our royal 
mortars and eight (ohorns. S nt back to St. John's in the R adau, fi urtcen 
heavy twenty-four-pounders, two eif?ht-inch howitzers. eft at ort erg' 
four medium twelve-pollnders, two II ht fix-pounders, two eight-inch howitzers, 
two royal howitzers. With olon 1 . t. Leger'S expedition to Fort St nwix ere 
fent two light fix.pounders, two light three-pounders, four COhOl'ns. Left at t. 
John's, four light fix",pollndel,'s, five light three-pou drs, four coham mortars : 
that was the diftriburion of artillery th t remained after the army had quitted 
Fort George. The quaqtity of artillery brought forward with the arm.y were 
four medium twelve-pounders, two light twenty-four- pounders, eightao light 
llx-pollOd rs, fIx ligqt three.pounders, two eighteen-inch ho iezers, four roy 1 
howitzers, two eighe-inch mortars, four royal mortars. 
~ Was not that park artillery, tho' confifting of fome twenty.four-pounders 

and fome tw lve rounder, prop rly field art'Uery? 
A.. They cenainly were, and have ever loeen confidered as fuch on 11 ld 

fervices. . eavy artillery j of a diftinCl: naC1Jre, and confiderably heaviel'l than 
guns of the fame calibre which we had in tbe army. 

K 2. <l:. ave 

f . 
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9. <2.:.. Have you ever known a Ids proportion than the brigaded artillery, which 
was attached to the line and to the au anced corps, allotted to the fame num-
ber of troops? , . . 

A. The proportion of fi d artillery certainly fuould vary, both 10 qU!!1ttty 
and nature according to the vari ty of circum frances un er whIch the a~my IS to 
aCt; the ufual allotment of liaht field pIeces are twO to 3ch battahon j ' and 
from a calculation of the numb rand ftren<rth of General Burgoyne's army, I do C> , 
not conceive thlt our lighs fi ld artillery ex 'eeded chat proportIon. 

10. Q What do you apprehend was the propofed de of artiller in, the country 
in which we were to aet? , 

A. To diOodae the enemy from fuch pofts as every where prefent themfelves 
in that part of the country, and from which it may be imp@ffible to difiodg.e 
them w ithou,t artillery of a more confiderable calibre than light fix-pounders. 

I I. Q. Do you remember the pofition which the enemy evacuated at Schuyler's 
Ifiand ? 

A. I do perfeCl:ly. 
11. ~ Had that polltion been maintained, would not arti1lery of the heavieft 

nature we had have been particularly ferviceable? 
A. Provided the poft could not have b en turned, and the nemy had made 

ufe of every advantage which the ground gave them, I have no oubt but the 
park artillery would have been abfolutely neceffary. 

13· <2.:.. Had the paffage of the Hu~fon's River, or of Batten Kill been dirputed~ 
would artillery of that nature have b en fervic able? 

A. Doubtlefs it would. 
14· Q. Had the enemy taken a pofition at the Forks of the Mohawk River,. 

would artillery of that nature have been ferviceable ? 
A. From the imperfect manner in which I faw that ground, it appeared ca­

pable of being made extremely defenfible, and, of courfe, that fort of artillery 
would have been {; rviceable. 

J 5. Q:.,. Had the army reached Albany, and it had been found expedient to for­
tify ' a camp there for the winter, would artillery of that natu"re have been 
neceffary ? 

A. here can be nO doubt of it. 
16. Q.:., What do you apprehend to be the chief ufe of howitzers and fmal 

morrars in the field. 
A. I apprehend they are of infinite fervi.ce againft all kinds of Jog work, ab. 

bacies, and againft ntrenchments.. The fmall mortars are particularly ufeful 
againft redoubts. and other works .where the enemy are confined within a fmaU 
fpace. 

17. Q:.,. Are not Jog works a fpecies of fortification peculiar to that country ? 
A. I never faw any elfewhere. 

18. ~ Wa the carrying forward 'the arttllery from La1..e Gorge to the place where 
t~e army croffed the Hudfon's River any impediment t9 the tranfport of pro-
vlfions ? ! 

A. The tranfport of our artillery and ftores were confiantly made by horfes 
attached 



.. Capt. Bloomfield.] EVIDENC 

attached to our department, and therefore I do .not conceive it did in nr man­
ner int rfere with the tranfport of provifions-I mean to onfine myfelf in thi 
an[w .r to the tranrport from Fort George to the ud on' 1 iv r. or ter cr f. 
ling the river w had [ol11e oxen and horfc rcached t the ier ice of the ar-
tillery, \ hich I b lie... VI re before employed in bringing rw I'd p 'ovifion • nd . 
bateaux. 
~ "'''hat time di it t ke to bring forward the park rtillery from Ort G org 19-

to the bridg of boats over the HuMon s h.iver? . 
. A. ~he lIght brigade an.~ th.e artill r~ of the park,. with their 1?l"oper 1 r or· 

t wn of {to res an ammUnttlon, had the r horres, c mage, and driver conll:antly 
am.che i to h m; it therefore l' qllir~d no more time to .rry th or s than 
, as ne · dTary for the arriag s themlel es to pa~ from ort e r t the 
Hudfon's River; but with r fp a to the r fl rv '\ hich " s a terwnrds tr. nf. 
ported by warer ill hateaux, I believe twO days with all our nrrillg s would c, [iJy 
hAve conveyed them t tl e HudfQn's River . 

. ~ Do YOtl remember the pofition of the King's troops fro.m tl time of tne 10. 
attac,{ on the 19th of ~ept mber to the attack 011 the 7th ot . bel' ~ 

A. Y('s. 
<t. Had tT,e army made a movement to gain th 1 fi; of the en my·s en· 2 J. 

tren chmtnt~ withom previouOy confttuCl:ing redou bt on the h ights that om­
manded dle pIa' n, would not rhe bateaux, roviCkn and hofplt 1 ha e been 
left open to an attack from the enemy's right? 

A. They would have b n left expofed undoubtedly. 
Q. Were not the lar.geft guns we had the prop rell: pie ea · of artillery for thofC! 2. Z. 

redoubts? . 
A. I think it was a fervice that was exacraly adapt d to th m. 
Q.. Do y.eu remember the difpofition. made by en ral Burgoyne on the 7th 2,:1-

• of OCto ber? 
A. I do. 
Q At what time was you wounded in iliac attack?' 2-+. 
A. I believe in about twenty minut s after it commenced •. 

. What cir umftance of the acrion did you ob fl rve cfor you was wound. 25' 
~ parricularly. refpeCl:ing the artillery and the enemy's adv3ncing under he fire 
f the artillery, and wh t happen d to the troops pofted imm\!di tely 011 the 1 ft 

of the artiHery ? 
A. The ground on which the artillery was pofted was a clt":lr ij')ot, in a gre t 

n eafure furroundcd bv WOOdlO, the 1kirts of which on ur I ft was diitan 
about (WO hundred yards where the attack firft began. The tWO medium tweJv -
poundas were pofted on a mall eminence, nearly in tn c mer of chb le fed 
ij-lOt b tw en the German picquets and a detachment of h HdTe anau r o-j. 
ro ct. On the enemy's column approaching, the fir of the lwdve-poundcrs anu 
the four ft.e w s immediately direCted towards t.he enem 's column, notwich. 
ftandjng which, hey drew up along tile fitirts of the wo il behind trees, and 
nfttj' drivjng in the Germans, kept a pretty warm fire of mulk tryon the gl n 
and the troops pofted about them; foon I10fter this I heard a firing on the ri ht. 

3 
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towards a cleared {i ot, feparated from us by a wo~ on w:hich the ]j~ht infan­
try were pofted on very com/flanding ground. On thelr retrea~mg, as a1fo the twenty­
fDurth r giment who. was drawn up in the wODd on our right, the enemy made 
their appearance on an eminence on our -right, and cut off the retr:at of the ar­
'tillery-At this moment I received my wOllnd, and therefore can gIve no farther 
account of the circumftances of that day's aCtion.. 

Examined by ether Meml!, rs of t'fe O(Jmm;tte-e. 

Q. What was the number of horfes in g neral erupl<?yed for the artillery af­
ter the march from Ticonderoga? 

A. The whole number of horfes detached with the Britifh artillery, previous 
to the paffing the HuMon's River, was ab0~t four hundred. 

Q. HDW ~any would have been necelfary for ,the field pieces attached to the 
battalions only .? -

A. Eighteen fix-pDunders at four borfes each; fix three-pounders .at three 
horfes each, and two. royal hDwitzers at ,three horfes each: the remainder wl!re for 
park artillery, ammun~tion, and ftores of all kinds to accommodate the army on 
its march. 

Q. Was the forage for there horfes procured in the country on their march, 
.or brought from a diftance? 

A. A quantity of oats was brought forward from Canada, but with refpect to 
otber forage they were under the neceffity of collecting it in the neigh ourhood 
of the encampment. / 

.Q. How many waggons might the bringing on .that quantity rof oats employ? 
A. I believe the quantity of oats' after paffing ort Edward was fo trifling 

fthat I don't believe it loaded one waggon. 
Q.. After the army arrived at Fort Edward, did any delay or flot al'ife to its 

forward progrefs from bringing on the park artillery, waiting for hQrfes and d'ri­
weI's for that purpofe, or to provide forage! 

A. The park artillery remained at Fort Edward no longer than was neeem ry 
.during the time the army remained in that neighbourhood: I do not know of 
any delay whatever from the want of horfes and drivers. Had the park artillery 
,moved Ii rwards fooner, no end could have been anfwered by it, before the bridge 
(Was thrown over the Hudfon's RiYer. 
~ Were there any gun-b::>ats fent Ollt toQ.uebec for the campaign 1776 ? 
A. There were. 
Cl. Were there afufficient number fent out, in Y-Ouropinion.? 
A. It ppeared that the naval force was fuperior to tbat of the rebels, from the 

event of that engagement.; and therefmre I conclude, that for the ufes of that cam­
paign there wer a fufficient number. 
~ Did YOll apprehend, before the event of the action on the Jakes, that the U1.~m­

h.er was fufficienr" and went o.ut in time i 
A. vVe 
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A. We had received very exaggerated accounts of the reb I force on t Ie 1. 
and therefore uncommon exertions were ufc d to r nder our force a formid bl 
poffible. and probably fome time was loft, nd th can'p ign in fome d gr e. 
retarded, from that circum fiance. 

Q.., \Vould the campaign have been retarded fo long if a gr ter number of gun- 34. 
boats had been fent out? 

A. Certainly not~ 
Q What number of artificers, were fent to Canada for th campaign in 1776 ? 3S. 
A. I don't immediately recolleCt the aa: n\,lmber; but I think Colonel Chriftie 

engaged about two hundred. 1 know of no others being 1i ot our. 
. Do you know of more being a1k.ed for by tbe artillery or engineers, as ne ill ry 36. 

for thec' mpaign ? 
A. I did hear of fome fuch intention; but at this diftance of time 1 cannot p rti­

cularly anfwer that queftion. 
Q.. Whether the number of artificers rent out for that c~l1npaig were l in ny 37 •. 

degree, fufficien1l for the purpofe of c~rrying it on ? . . 
A. Certainly not. We were UDder the neceffity of collechng all the rtlfic r tlla 

could be met with in Canada for the armament of St. John's only,. moft of the 
bateaux bein built by private contraCt. 

Q:,. Were not t e operations of that campaign confidembly retard d, for "want of 3g 
the number of artificers that were dk.ed for and 1 t granted? 

A. Had the number of artificers been grea er, there can be n doubt but the 
work would have gone on mtlch {after. With r [pea: to he artificer b in de­
manded, I have already faid 1 do not r colleCt: the number. 

Q Were there not horfes n ce{fary for conveyjng the ftores nd mmuniti 11 39 ... 
neceifary for the field train; and how many? 

• A. h beft anfwer to that queftion will, I apprehe\Jd~ be a ftate of the numb r of 
horfes aCtually arta<:hed to the fe er.al brigades of artillery, fince the :lllorment 
flores and ammunition were exaCtly proportioned t the number of pice s whi h , 
h ' d Aofw fln~ 

t eyaccompalllc ,- upt c.J 
rl'he brigade attached to the advanced corps of liglic artillery confifted of g~~1 1t into . 

eiO'hty-five-] th d t il. 
o Q.. How many horfes might have b en fpared, if the heavy park of artillery had 40. 

not attended the army: ? 
A. It wOllld have made a difference of two hundred and thir.t:y-ft:ven hones., 
Q:,. W s the army furnilhed with carts to have employed thofe two hundr dan 4T ­

thircy-fev n homes? 
A. 1 really c.annot anfwer. that q)leftion of my' own knowledge 

[WilbdrdW. 

'lovis 
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J~vil f die Junii, 1779· 

LlEtfTENANT COLONEL 'KlNGSTON called in, and examined by General Burgo1ne• 

1. <l.:.. I wl)at capacity did you aCt in the campaigrl of 1777 ? 
A. As deputy adjutant general of the province of ~ebec; 1 acred as adjutant 

general of cile army under General Burgoyne, and a1fo as fecr tary to General Bur­
goyne. 

2. Q. Did not tha:t double capacity, and the confidence with which General Burgoyne 
tfeate~ YOll, lead you to the , knowledge of the materjal circumftances attending that 
campaIgn? e 

A. I looked on myfelf .to be in the entire ,confidence of the general. 
3· Q. Did General Burgoyne give any orders for the augmentation of artillery de­

ftined for this expedition, after his arrival in Canada? 
A. There was no fuch order went through me j nor did I hear of any fuch order 

being given. • 
4- Q. Have you reafon to believe that the proportion of artillery employed was ac­

cording to tn opinion and recommendation of Major Genera1 Phillips? 
:A. I befeve General Burgoyne had the greateft confidence in General Phillips's 

knowledge and abilities; and I believe the proportion , of artillery to have b en 
arranged betw en General l;)hillips and Sir Guy Carl ton, b caule I don't know of 
any direCtions ,given by General Burgoyne upon that head, 

5. . Q. What were the orders given, at the opening of the campaign, refpec~ing the 
mcumbrances of baggage? 

I'l'he wilnifs rifers lo .the orderly bookJ which he h4a 'With him. 

Read the orders. 

They are the original orders, written by myfelf at tbe time. 

[Read!'.] ~( E},,'traCts from orders ifTl1ed by Liemenaot General 'Burgoyne at Montreal, 
dared 30th May, 1777. 

" Tbe regiments -deftined for the expedition -under General Burgoyne are to 
"leave in th ir rcfpeClive !tores their blanket coats, legO"ing, and all baggage 
"that can be fpared during the fummer months; the officers are depended on 
" nnt to encumber tbe {ervice with more baggage than 1bal1 be abfolutely ne­
"eefTar-y for a mpaign where the movements may be 'expeCted to be {udden 
U and al rt· the portion of hateaux to each regiment will be regulated 011 thofe 
tC principle " 

6. Q W.ere thofe orders afterwards enforced '? 
A. Orders 
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A. Ord rs were ifi'ued again to the (arne pur orrt d:lre Sk n {borough Houfl.: 
July H . 

[Reads.] "It is ob(erved that the injunction give!l, b fore the rmy t ok th tiel. 
" -, relative to the baggage of officers, has not been com plie \ ' th; :md th t th re i 

" menU in general are encumbered \ ith much more b . ga than they can 1 offib y lJ 
U fUl'plied with means of conveying, when hey quit the hlk nd rivers. Vi' min. i 
,e therefore again given to the officeu, t conv y by the bateaux, which will fo n 
" return to Ticonderoga, the bngg3ge that is not indifpenfibly necetrury to them ~ 
" or upon the firft !udden movement, it muft inevitably be left up n the r \Ind. 
" Such gentlemen as ferved in America the laft war may r member that the Ai ers 
" took up with foldiers' tent # and ofcen confined their baggnge to knap ck 
" mOil hs togeth<!r." 

Q. l:iav~ you a letter from General BurgoYl1e to GCI1t!ral ReidefeI, 0111 the fubjeCl 8 
of the incumbrance of baggage? . 

A. I have an extraa: of it, t-akeR f.rom the original letter in dl.Q lett • book. I is 
as follows: 

EX/fllll 0/ a Leith' from IJeUI. Gm. BttrgQJlfe 10 Major Gmtral R.eideJ~/, aatei HI" 
fl.g.arters at Skenefool0ugb, tbe ~ib July, ' 777, ' 

"Je vous fupptie de faire en forte, qu l'efprit d ]'ordre par rapIort 
'U ~ Ie ~envoye des baggages des ofik iers a Ticonderoga aye lIeli. 

ce Les baggages des officiers Britanniques ont deja ren oye • il n' n 
"refte a plufieurs qU'une petite tente, et un vatife. Cell. ' elem nt pour 
H l'iDtercft de I'officier a 1a fin, que je fuis fi porte ce~ article.·' . 

T Ii A N S L A T ION. 

" I requell you to take meafures that th (pirit of the ord r tefp~cHng 
" the fending back officers' bagg~ge to 'Ticonderoga may have due force. 

'( The baggage of the Britifh officers is already g.n , and many of th m 
" have only retained a fmall tent and one clQak bag. . It rs really for the j .­
" tereftof the.officers, in the e!ld, that I am fo pl' ~ffing up~n this fubjeCl/' 

~ When the contract Was made for horres and carts at MOhtrertl., \"35 it the 9. 
general opinion of the per{ons of heft inrelligence conCulced,thnt the number . 
more or leCs than neceff'ary for the {ervice Oh which we were going ~ 

A. In general converfation on that fubject I rem mber to have heard it (aid, tha 
though .they ,rere inlufficient. '\\-'e might expect to find addition I CuprIies in the . 
country. I have extraCts of letters here that paffed between Oen ral Bhrgoyne and S A 
General Phillips on that fubject. They are extracted from the original letter copy- d~ ppe • 
book. 
~ Have ·{ou the returns,or enrach of the returns of tht ftrength of the army 10. 

at ,aIT the different periods of the caQ1paign ? 
A. I , 
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J 2.. 

16. 

18. 
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A. I have extraCts from the returns. 
Q.. What was the ftrenoth of the regular troops, at the higheft~ at the opening of 

the campaign. rank nd file, lit for duty? 
. A. The firfl: returns I r ceivcd on the firft of July, 

The Britifll were 3576 fit for duty. 
Ger ans 2919 do. 

6489 
I fpeak. folely of the army under Lieut. General Burgoyn , 

Q.. What were the numbers of the artillery, and the corps under Lieutenant 
Nutr, atta hed to the fcrvice of the artillery? 

Britiili artillery 2 {, 7 
Germans 100 

Recmits under Liellt. N utt 154 
Q W re there any other troops in the army that could be called regulars ? 
A. There were Canadian!:, 'Provincials, nd Indians' but I never confldered them 

as regulars, becaufc they ,were not difciplined. 
~ Can you ftate about what was thenl1mber of the Canadians? 
A. 'The Canadians wert! 148 the higheft number. 
Q. The Provincials? . 
A. I wOI.1Id be underfrood to 1i eak to the opening of the campaign the fiill of July. 

They w re low then, and ncrca d afterwards. Th y were then 83. 
Q.. The Indians? 
A. Between thr e and four hundred. It was very difficult to coHea: what their 

number was exaCtly. 
Q;.. \Vas the army ever fo high in numbers Provincials and Indians excepted, as 

at that period 2 
A. I believe it never was~ On the 3d of S ptembe . additional companies joined 

the Britifh, to the amount of about 300 men;. but from killed and wounded, and the 
garrifon left at TicQndcroga~ the army was at no time qual to its firfl: number. 

. What was lh force left at Ticond roga? . 
A .. The firft garrifon confifted of 462. Britiili, I' nk and file. 44-8 Germans, rank 

and file; making 910 in the whole. 
9. Q. Do you r member the ifficulci s which attended moving the wounded to 

::fi onderoga, after the aCtion at Hl1oorton ? 

20. 

A. I remember to have heard they were very great. Different propofitions were 
made £ r the removing th m, fuch as biers and hand-barrows, which were fo very 
incommodious, that I remember to have been told that the wounded would rather 
b lefe where whey wer than move in the then ftate of their wounds by fuch con­
,-cyan es . 

Q. Do YOIl know \ hat wer General Burgoyne's motives for detaching General! 
Reidcfd with a largl': corps of troops to the country in the n ighbourhood of Caf­
litton? 

. I don't remember to have been prefent when General Reidefel received his 
rdel's or in rufrion ; but 1 underftood it was to creat an alarm toward t'he Con­

ne i ut, to O'ive n oUraO'em llt co the loyal inhabitants, if any fuch there were,. 
ld to. proteCt, thofc tha.c wer.e wounded at Hlibetton or ther.eabollts. 

• (,I 

Q.. "Vas. 
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Q Was th removal of thore wo mded ffi d long b re n raJ Re' le\ w. S .. I. 
recalled from Caftleton ? 

A . .I believe not> (or I am not quite c rtnin that the 
neral Reidef¢l re urned to the army at I-ene£b rough, 
di ifion of the army moved tow rO$ Fort Anne. 
~ . H;lve y.ou any papers wri.tten by e er 1 Burgoyn bet\l '~n tho tim h w S 2. • 

at Montreal and the time he Ie t k n~1b ough, xplanatory of th motiv ' n 

7 

which he acted? 
A. I havt. They are ext~frs from the origin 11 uer~book. 

. ee l)P n· 
tli . 

~ Are you acquainted with any fr that wm nfl'crtain wherh r, on the arm' 2. 

arriving at Fort dward, it was forward€r in its pr0r:>rels to\ '. rds Alb ny, in poine 
of time, tban it would h e been had it t k n thi! r ute by , 'icon rog n L ke 
George? 

A. In anfwer to that quefi:ion I have to fay; the army, by t ~ing that rout was 
a.head of th tr.anfpol't of provibon, which, for the greater part', went from Ti QU" 

detoga by the route of Lake George. 
Q At our fir£F arrl.val at; Fort dward,. and previous to the ro bIng !l'\: nd <.I, '2 

in what proportion did pl'ovifions arrive at OUr camp? 
A. Very iittle more than or the imm dhu.e confumption. 
Q. (We you tl e memorandum-books of Sjr <r ncis Cl rke? 
A. Yes. 
Q. Do you know them to be his aod.writing l 
A. I am fully convinced of it, havin~ feen him enter many of th articles Irt .the[e 

books. . 
Q:...HaS there been any alteration or addi ion Lince you had them? 

OM. 

16. 

~ What 'was the charaCter of Sir Francis Clarke r fpe&in his accuracy? . 29. 
A. I never faw an officer more attentive to the duties of his {\:ation than Sir F'rancls 

Clarke, and always fuund him exce dinglyaccurate in the rem rks he mad . 
• Are there any memorandums rc;fpeCting the !lrri a1 of p(ovifions at th t 2.9. 

time? 
fA. Th re are feveral. 
<L You will read two or three ? 30. 
~. CRe~ds.] -" ifrh AU!ruft. ViC1:uallll1 f of. the arm~ OU ~ thls dar,. and from 

" difficulties of tlle roads and tranrpol·t ·, no provdion came to thiS nIght. 
~, Sixth Augufr.-At ten o'clock this moming, not quite enough provHions arrived 

~t for the confumption of two days." . 
0.:., Was .it in general underftood, from the, combined int lligence ,"' .. r. ived by 31• 

General ReJdefel, while he was detach d to CaffJetown. and th t t 'c 1 d by .-
!lera} ~urgoyne from the Provincials in his camp, that there t::r m ny well aff d. 
inhabItants toward Bennington, who would !hew tnemre]v s tht: p roach of 
troops ~ and that re was dejection and fubmiffion among the p' rty au ell d to the 
congrefs in that country? 

A. I did hear feveral reports to that purpof< • 
L a, . . Have 
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0.:.. Httve you the origina1 rough ~iraft of the expedition to Dennington, as ~reft:nted 
to General Burgoyne from General Reidefd; with General Burgoyne's alterations and 
additions? 

A. I have the original rough draft of the propofals for the expedition to Bennin~­
ton ; but not bein.., pn:fent at the time, I can't fay whether thofe propofals were de1.i­
,'erect by General Reide4i::l or not; bue 1 kllOw of alterations made in thofe propofall 
by General Burgoyne, from a kl,owledge of his hand-writing. 

Note, The witners delivered in to the Committee th~ original rough draft of the 
In1huaions, with a fair copy. 

Q.. \ Vhether you have reafon to know that all the erafures and alterations in that 
plan were made before the expedition took place? 

A. I believe they were, from the reading of ir. 
<t.. Do yOU' remember taking tllis plan to General rhillips the day General Bur-

goyne went to F.,rt George to infpea the tranfport of provifions ? 
A. I- do remember it very well; it was the rough draft I took. 
Q.. What were General Phill ips's fent iments upon it? 
A. I remember General Phillips and I had a long converfation on the fiownefs of 

the arrival of the tranfport of provifions; and he raid he looked on this as a very good 
idea; that he faw no objeaion, and a~ed m~ if I knew of any. 

Q Do YOll remember !hewing the plan to General Frafer ~ 
A. I db very wel~. 
Q,: What did he exprefs on tne f\'LbjeCt ~ 
A. He defired me to leave it with him tin the afternoon for his confideration. He 

came himfclf to my tent the next morning early; he exprelfed himfelf to me in a 
manne.r that con.veyed a difapprobat.ion of the Germans being employed in it. I 
think I obferved to him that fince the honour gained by the advanced corps at H u­
berton, I believecl General Reidefel was defirous of having · the Germans employech 
]. mt:lltioned to G.eneral Fr.afer . my ideas of provifions being obtained by that expedi­
tion, and the army thereby enabled to get quicker on to Albany than waiting for the 
flow tranfport from Fort George. General Frafer faid fomething about Germans, which 
I don't recolletl:; which brought this remark from me. I defired General Frafer, 
from the friend1htp he had for General Burgoyne, if he faw any real objetl:ion 
to this plan, to expr fi himfe1f fully and freely to General Burgoyne himfe1f; that 
t,he fcouts of the army and the guides were attached to his the advanced corps, and 
he might,. t hrough them, perhaps know more of the nature of the country than 
J did; and therefor I pre(fed him to mention his objeCtions, if he had any, to 
Grneral Burgoyne. I tlhink he faid, but am not quite certain, "the G rmans ar.e 
... not a very aGtive people; but it may do." I prilled him at parting to go to 
General Bmgoyne, if he thought it would not do. He faid No, and went off. 

Q: Were not many of the Provinci Is in the army of the country about Benning­
ton, and towards the Conm;c icut ? 

A. I can'e pretend to fay ::hey were from that country; but I underftood many of 
them wt'fe well ac~uainted wjth. that country. 

~Do 
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0.:.. Do you remember Captain Sherwood in particular? 
A. I do very well. " 
~ Was he of ,that countey ? 
A. 1 llnderftood he was of tbat neighbo lrhood 

3 • 

~ Did you ever hear Colonel Skeene, or any other Provjncial, confulted on an 41. 
expedition into that country, exprefs any apprehenfion of its fuc efs? 

A. I never d'd. Sir F,ancis Clarke told, me he had received f:lv:ourable accounts 
from Colonel Skeene;, and 1 believe after pan of the expedition had t lkcn 
place. ' 

Q. Are ~htrt any memorandums of Sir Francis Clarke's, refpeCl:ing the expedi .. 42. 
tion fO Bennington ? 

A. Yes. 
Q:.. Is there any that matks the difrance between Batten' Kilf and Bennington ~ 
A. Yes; it is his hand-writing. _ 

43-

[Reads.l "From the mouth of Batten Kill, Eafr, for two miJc:s~ then {hike off' 
" South taft for about fifttcm miles to Cambridge; and fo on ab uc twelve nliles 
" to Bennington ." 44. 

Q. Have you the original letters, wtitten from Colonel B'aume to Gc:neral B.ur­
goyne, while he was on the e~pedition , ? 

A. They are here. He delivlrtd thl'" ;'1 to the Comm;t/ee. 
Q. Is there any memorandum of Sir Francis Clarke' mark.ing the time when 

Colonel Breyman was ordered' to march to (upport Colond Ba lme ? 
A. [Reads.] H 15th Auguft •. Exprefs arrived from S:mcoick.; , at five in , the morn­

" ing; corps de t'eferve ordered to march. 
" 16th Augull. During the night, exprefs arrived from Sancoick with an account 

" of the repulCe this evening of a detachment of ours on an expedition. 
" Sunday. 17th Augull. The general went up to the twenri tb regiment. act· 

" vanced on the road to Sancoick, and met the corps de refer e. the men of that 
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" expedition returning all day.." . 
~ Do you recoHect what time of the day it was General Burgoy,ne met Colo- 46. 

nel Breyman on his return on the 17th? 
A. I thi k it was fometime between one and three o'clock. 
Q. Have you the inftruCtions given by General Burgoyne to Colonel Skecne 011 'N. 

that expedition? 
A H · f h e t he A ~ . ere 15 a copy 0 t em. J end' . • 
~ Is tbere any memorandum of Sir Francis Clarke's, of any inte1lig~nce t'cceiv.e.d 

from C lonel Sr. Leger about this time?, 
A~ There is of the 12th of Auguft. 
[Rtatls.] " This morning received intelligence of an aa:ion near Fort C!tanwix." 
Q. After the failure of the. expedition to Bennington, can you (peak to the ef. -49' 

{'€Irts made fot forw rding provifion ? 
A. I know th t very great efforts were made both befClre ' and after. I under­

!toad that General Burgoyne and General Phillips had been. both at diffcren times 
at Fort G.eorge to . forward the provifions, and I believe fllbfcquen t rh ill news 
frOII\ BenningtOn., The quarter-malter-general. (1 mean Captain Money) was feot" 

by 
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by General Burgoyne to Fort Edward, lind I believe t? Fort G~orge. to collea 
all horfes and team~ poffible, and to make every exertion ro bnng forward the 
proviGons. 

Q., Have yOll the calculation, made by the con1miffnry-g~neral, of the carriages 
and borfes necetrary for different given quantities of provifiuns ? 

A. It is here. I believe it is the original. 
"Q., Did the march of the artillery from Fort George to the: bridge of boats over 

Hudt;m's River., interfere with the tranfport of provifion ? 
A. I ha\ chad ma11Y converfations with General Phillif's and the quarter-mnfier­

general abollt the tranfport of provifions, and never remember to have he.ard from 
tbem, or an y other per!an, that the march of the artillery interfered in any manner 
with tbe tranfporr of proviGol1s. 

Q... About what time did the additional companies arrive? 
A. The 3d of Septem ber. 
0:. Wb~t was tbe nate' of the army when we paffed the HuMon's River? 
A. My return goes to the J fr of eptemb~r. 

Britifh, fit for duty under arms, 2635 rank and file. 
Gei-mnns J 711 

The 3(')0 additional did not join the army ti1l the 3d of S"ptember, fo .hat this 
rcturll is exc1ufive of them. t'" 

0..:.- \iVIlat was the ftrength of the artillery and Lieutenant N utt's corps at that 
time? 

A. 1 believe thcre was very little variation in either of them from the former 
return_ 

<L Have you General Burgoyne's application to Sir Guy Carleton for a gar· 
rifon from Canada for Ticond roga, before he paffed the Hudfon's River? 

A. I have extraCts from letters of General Burgoyne to Sir Guy Carleton, the 
lIth oi July, .1777, and the 29th of July, 1777. 

Q.. Was there any confiderable alteration in the ftrength of the army between 
the return of the I fi of Septem ber, and the action on the 19th? 

A. There was a ikirmifh or two, but the lofs was not material in that in­
terval. 

Q In the courfe of the fervice, did you ever know any infiance of a day of 
aCtion, where there was not fome deductions from the effective ftrength upon pa. 
per, for baggage guards, bat-men, care of the fick. and other indifpenfible regimen­
tal contingencies t 

A. I apprehend there muft always be dedutlions of that fcrt. 
0..:.- In the fervice of our campaign, was there not a confiderable additional 

deduCtion for the care ana defence of the bateaux and movable miigazines ? 
A. It muft of courfe make an additional drain frem the army. 
Q! Was not all we had of the forty-fi venth regiment appropriated to that par­

ticular {ervice P 
A. It generally was; I believe always fo. 

. ~ Thefe deduCtions confidered, about what number do you compute the Bri­
tlfh Ime to have confifted of on the day of the action of the 19th. 

'\- A. I 
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A. I b lieve che four regiment of the line engaged chat day amounteu t lit­
tle more chan one thoufand one hundred men on ch fpot un r I'm in the 
tion. 

Q. What 10fs did the Briti1b funain in that aaion ? 
A. Killed, wounded, and prifon rs r tber more rh ~n 1 ~ tIl n fi c hundred. 
Q. Can you fpeak particul r1y to the 10C: of rh lin ? 
A. I bel' eve about feventy.fi killed ran1 and file, nd between two hundrc(\ 

and forty and two hundred a.nd fifty wounded, and abuut tw my·eight or thirf 
miffing and prifooers . 

Q _ Do you recolleCt the frrength of the 20th r gimeat \ hen they m:lde th ir 
laO: Charge on the enemy? 

A. 1 do very well. I was by G oeral Phillips \ hen t ll art! r were given for 
that charge; he w s then in the fr ot of the line: the ranks pp ar d c be 
very thin, the r gimeot \ ere much fatigued with the I ngth of the Ii Ion, but 
moved on to the cbarge "\'ith fpirit. 

Q. Do you remember eneral Burgoyne going up 0 the fixt)r.fecond regime'n 
immedia ely after the firing ce\lf~d, and the report that was m de to him by tlw 
commanding officer of th ftate of thut re imcnt? 

A. I remember it, and the officer r p rting the great lofs they h d fuO: in­
ed in tht: ~aion; I faw them, and they appeared to be ery confiderably Icduced 
in number. 

Q. Do you remember the officer menti iug that they had not bove fifry or fixty 
men in the regiment? 

A. I can't fpeak pofiti ely to that; but in my own judgment they did not c -
ceed uhat number. 
~ Were not both the field·officers wounded? 
A. Colonel Anftrllther and Major Harnage were oath wounded and a great mony 

other fficers ""ere killed and \\ ounded, and the regiment fuffcrcd re til'. 
~ To \l hat d 'gree lid the men of the artillery fuffer in that a ion? 
A. I think, but am not quite certain, that the number thul werc with four gun'l 

amounted to forty.eigbt~ I faw Captain Jnnes, ho was a very gall nt m n, and 
commanded thofe four guns, killed, anu fame other officers wour.ded, - no I be­
lieve about thirty fix of tb men were kill d and wounded. I ihould in juftice 
to the artillery fa 7, that I think it ic; not in the power of men tn keep Lct· 
ter fire, both of round and grape-fuot, than was [ucce{)lvely maintained for fever J 
hours that da,'. 

6r. 

e6. 

Q:. From 'your experience in the fervic, do you concei e it would have DC· G8 
clJrred to ;lny officer, to engage troops, if he co ld poffibly avoid it. in the fima· 
tion in \ 'hich the Britifh line was the day after tha a iOIl? 

A. The experience of an officer of my inferior rank doe not lead to m h; 
but 1 fhould have been ~ rry to have given rders to thofe regiments, after the 

ollant fuffe ings of that day, to have ttacked an army reported, both from r 
fpies and our l)rifoners , to be very near if not more than four limes the num. 
ber 0 our wh Ie force: add to this, the country was a very thick wood, and 

the 
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the' fituation df the rebel - :".1) ' 1 believe, could not by any means be reco" .. 
noitred 'w ithin th . lp:1t.e (" tIme. 

Q. Do you r me h t'f Genaal Burgoyne receiving a letter from Sir Henry 
Clinton the day but one al reI' that aCtion, informing him, that he intended about 
that time an attnd .. on F()rt fV onrgomery ? . 

A. I do remcml)er h.- receiving -a letter from Sir Henry Clinton about that time; 
it was the 22d of Septc· nher. 

Q Do you imag 'le 1I 1ltt any officer knowing of that letter would have enter .. 
tained thoughts of immediate ly renewill CY an attack upon the enemy? 

A. As far as all opinioll of an officer of my inferior rank goes, I fbould not 
have thought of it, nor did 1 hear any oRicer of any rank exprefs fuch an idea 
at that time. . 

Q:. From what you knew of the coun try, did you not believe that a fuc~ 
cefsful 'znack from Sir Henry Clinton during the time we lay at that camp, 
would either have difloclged General Gates enti rely, or have obliged him to de­
.tach <conliderably from his army? 

A. I remembrr our {couts giving information, that a bridge was laid over 
the Hudfon's River, very near the enemy's camp; and it was the opinion of 
rome very confidential men that were et:nployed in that army in that capacic)" 
and were much under the direCtion of General Frafer) that on the approach of 
Sir Henry Clinton's army, the army of Mr. Gates could not fiand us, .but would 
crofs the river, and go towards New England. Whether the idea was right or 
wrong, I can'( tdl. 

Q.. Did you ever hear fuch perfans, or any others, exprefs an idea, that the 
enemy would have taken the fame meafure on our advancing to attack them 
without that co-operation ? . 

A. I don't remember to have hear.d any fuch thing. 
Q. Do you imagine that any officer knowing of Sir Henry Clinton's letters, 

would have thought it proper. to retreat after the aClion of the 19th of Sep­
tember? 

A .. I never heard any officer exprefs an idea of that fort. I don't know what 
officers might be within the knowledge of fuch a letter; but I lived intimate­
ly with General Phillips, General Frafer, and with Mr. Twi[s, the engineer; 
wbether the letter was in their knowledge or not, I don't know: but I never 
heard tbem exprc[s fuch an idea. 

Q:. Did you ever hear any officer of that army, though .unacquainted with 
the letter, before or fince the time, fxprefs a difapprobation of the meafure of 
remaining in that camp without either attacking or retreating? 

A. Neither then or at any time while I remained in America, and of courfe 
not fince. 

Q.:. From your converfation with the chief engineer, and from other circum­
frances, have you reafon to know, that every poffible means were ufed after 
the aCtion of the 19th, r~ obtain a knowledge of the ground on the enemy's 
left ? . 

A.I 
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A. I had fe quent converfations with the chief engine r on that fubjeCl-. F be-
lieve his attention was given to that point almoft every day, nd knowl dge 0 

that ground I underftood to be very difficult to ue ob(ained~ 
Q Was not the right of the enemy deemed impra icable. 76. 
A. I had no opportunity myfelf of fecin the right of the enemy J but I un­

derftood from others, that the pofition was too ftrong to be arrocked \ ith any pro­
fpea: of fuccefs. 

<l.:.. Were there not frequent confultations held between G neral Burg 'ne, • 77. 
neral Phillips and General Frafer, previous to the movement up to the en my Oil 
the 7th of Oaober? 

A. I underfiood there was fcarce a day paffed without fuch. confult tion; I be­
lieve no day after the action of the J 9 h. 

Q Did you conceive that the chief purpofe of th mov ment \ a t at in 71t 
a knowledge of the left of the enemy's pofition, and if c. p«dient to ttack them 
there? 

A. I underftood it was. • 
<l.:.. Did it appear to you, that the force left in camp. under General Hamil- 79. 

ton, was more than fufficient to keep the enemy in check ? 
A. I don't think it was. 
<l.:.. From the intimacy and confidence in which you lived with General Bur- 80. 

goyne and General Frafer, do you imagine any ' fag re ment of opinion could h ve 
{ubfifted betweeft them without YOllr knowledge? 

A. I think I muft have heard of it. 
Q.. Do you know any infiance, but more efpecially r fpetting the periods uf 81 

palling the Hudfon's River, the aCtion of the 19th of Septem r, nd that of 
the 7th of Ottooer, herein General Frafer expre{fcd a difi pprobaci n of Gene-
ral Burgoyne's meafures? 

A. I do not : but I would beg leave to obferve, that upon the plan to 
Bennington, General Frafer had expreffed a different opinion, wi h rerp ct to em­
ploying the G~rm ns. At the time of paffing the Hudfl 0' Ri ver, and after it 
was crotred, I had a ~reat deal of converfatioo \\ irh General Frafer: he fcemcd 
to exprefs fatisfaCtion In the manner in which he troops had plllrc:d. 
~ In the action of the 7th of Octob r, afreF the German tr op on the left 82. 

of the artillery had given way, did you obferve pneral Phillips and enc) al 
ReidefeJ in perfon? 

A. I was with· General Phillips at different times, and I faw General R eide­
fel more than once; they were both very aCtive, and exerted thcmfi Iv s very 
much to form the broken troops, and to make the retreat a regular as the cir­
cumftance would permit. 

Q. What was. the laf\; time you Caw Sir Francis Clarke in that attion, and do you ~ 3. 
know what orders he was carrying? 

A. It was after th retreat was become very general. Sir Fr ncis CI· rkc 
aiked me, if I h d given any orders to rhe artillery to retreat? 1 raId him, th to 
3S ther was a major-general of the artillery io the fi I , who \ a confclfc d 
by the army to be a very excellent officer, I would not take on myftlf, . s ad-

M jll ant" 
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jut:lnt-crener'al, to give order!> to' any pa'rt Of the arti11ery. Sir Francis Clarke to~d 
m , that a difpofirion had been made for a general retreat,. and that be 'was 
going with orders from eneral Burgoyne to bring off the arttllery. A?out the 
;nfhnt we were parting, a very heavy fire came upon us from. the e~eltly, ~:lI1d . 
I have fince had reafon to believe, that Sir Francis Clarke receIved hIs w und 
at that time. , , 

8+ Q.. On the day of the 8th, do you remember the enemy forming a Ihic in 11 
meado'ws, and makidg a demoniliation Of ari'a.cking tlS ? 

A. I do remember it very well , and that there as -a great deal of carinona'tiing 
from the enemy. 

is. <t. Do you remember al(o a cannonauihg in die afternodn, ' about the time of 
General Frafer's funeral? 

A. I think I fuall never fbrget that circummmce. General Frafer, I UI der­
flood had defired to lYe buried privately, in one of the redoubts that liad b en 
raifed for the proteCtion of our magazines and fl:ores; as the corpfe was railing 
by, Genera' Burgoyne, General Phillips, and I believe General ' Reidefi I, B,nd 
feveral other oflicers, out of ref pea: to Gene al Hafer's memory, anu to do him 
honour in the eyes of the army, notwirhftanding his teqtlefi, attended his f..unc­
ral into the redoubt. The enemy 'were in this inftance, I thOught, ,very defec­
tive i'n poiot of bu'maiiity; tHey ' pohited a ' guu or two at toat very red be, 
and kept up a brllk cannonade ~uring the whole of the fl1neral ~'r'v' ce, w,hich 
was performed with great folem11lty and very deliberately by Mr. Brudcne1, the 
chaplain. I never faw fo affea:in~ a fight. 

86. <2::.. Do you remember on the march to ' Saratoga feeing a corps of the enemy at 
work on the plain of Saratoga? 

A. ' I do very well; awoi'king party, and what appeartd to be a battaHon dr 
more drawn u p as a covering party. 

87. 0::., vV' 5 t hat the corps diht afterw~ards took 'p'oO: on the oppofrte fide of the 
river? , 

A. I belie,ve it ",!as toe fame torps I faw ,afterwar'd31J ffing the ford. 
88. Q After tbe arrival of the army at Saratoga, \ n:s Lieurcna'nt Coldnel Su ther~ 

land detached with a command to cover a party of 'workm n to repair bridge 
and roads, in ord r to continue the retreat Of) Hle 'wen fide of the river? 

A. He was ordered with a party to rep'air bridges ind ' road on the "-eft 
fid~ , 

89. Q Do you ' remerh er on what account ' Colonel Sutherland arid the party" ere 
recalled -? 

A. I be1iev:e it was bn informati n given by our f~outs, -that the enemy {~:ere 
preparing to attack us in grea.t force. 

9 0 • Q.. ave you further re fon "to 'know tnat a ~ geneaal atta It. 011 that 'oay as 
really i31tended by the enemy? 

~. There '1,'" " particular caution feht 1"tlilnd to all the troops to b~ preparc<t 
for 'tlHlt attack, as it was expetled it ... t>uld be "at eml'ted under cover Of a 
very t.hick fog then pr vaiHng. :After , the conventibn had taken 'Place, a gene­
-tal .ojficer in tbe r.ebel fervice ac.qu irrted me, that fuch a1\ ttack was intentled 

3 and 
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a d from inforl11 tion, I Ii ye ft'Qlll d rer er , or fro:n their own (cou ' . th 
army was exc~edingly well 1 r~pared to r c i tb m. that they w0\11\ 
~uch exp fed wh n ~h~y <;ame n ~11e p in t ur rtill r h t n1 I r • 
tr at d \ ith hi omma!)d , but 1ent. w r t nOlher g n r I offi r t~ r rr 
31fo. ' The other rencra! officer llS hi fenior; but he lr tI t ' 1) h. t l11 n him , 
from tbe ~ ar the coof qu nces of fuch an attack .. of \ bi 'h he fcnt "'0 
to General at~s, who al)prov d and confirm d hi or !er. 

Q Previous to the ouneil of \: ar to which the field fficer w re called do 9, 1. 
YQu rem rt;lb r it b ina dttermin d in the ouneil of th g ner I t to try 1\ nig-h 
rn rch I abandoning the carriages 3.t1d ua gll • nd orders bing giv n r the 
celiv ry of as In\lch proviiions as the men could enrry? 

A. I do rem mber fu h a cie.tcrminati n v.ery ell 
Q. What pre\'ented the e...'!.ecu tion of it ? 92 • 
A. I undedlooQ. there were 1uc:h difficulties in ~etting u the provifions, that 

the delivery of tbe ncceffary pro ifions auld not be accomplithcd. • 
Q. Had we in(eUigence tbe ne t day From di{fe cn (cours, that the el my W3 93. 

in pom mon of tbe country ttl fotce, on botb fides the: llMol'S niver, u twe n 
us and fort Edwar~ ? 

A. I underftoo • (rom fome of the fcoms th:lt we had been nccufi.omed molt t 
depend OD, that the en my were f, poned. 

Q Have you r afon to know that the intellige encral Burgoyne fin ed to the 94-
council of war on this fubjeCt was true ~ 

A. 1 was affmed hy one of the eneral officer.s who cond cd us tOW:lI d Do((on 
that troops of theirs' were in he pofition that ou fcouts h d given us :nform:uioIl' 
Qf. 

Q Did you learn at the fume time at w1\ t eriod thofe pofl's '\ ere taken up by 9~. 
the enemy, whetb t before or after our arrival at a~ oga? 

A. I h V/l ex.tr.aCts of minutes mad at that tim, f1' m h mouth of til ge­
neral officer I mentioned. 

[Reads.]-" Wh<;n the king's army was , rcturning afotO.:l rigod f 
" fifteen hundred men were pof~ d on the eafr fide of the udCon I iver, to difJmte 
U the ford,. and two thouland men mor \, ere poQed bet e~1 us nod '01' Eth\-ard. 
" on the fame fide of tbe river.' - ourteen hundred mar aHo w re poned 0Pl fire 
tQ S ato a, a little b ve the other party 1 mention d f<'lr. to prev nt ur paf. 
n g th tl.dfon's i r. i reen' h odred of rho~ I h ve mc:ntl.o po d 
on or efore the 5th of Oaober. The others, I rememb~r very h ve 
he rd, were pafred previolls to th 7 th of ober. 
~ Have you an extrafr of the Iaft council of war a which the 6 Id offi e 9 . 

ad? 
• The is true, ex~pting the names of the qffi e , and the vo 

ga.: Ie. I hay the o~ig' a! paper, lID me n e of the 0 r ha compo Se l'.. pen-
OJlO il; and 1 believe th(;~r opinions. e 'he txtJ 0 i¥. 

tid you er b ar fa propofal rna e by General P, illll , to m 97· 
. toga to T.iconderoga with a b y of tro p ? 

l ~ 
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. A. Never with a body of troops ; but I remember to have heard , Gen~Jal Phil1ip~ 
make an offer, which I thought a very fpirited one, to ri1k his life in attemptin~, 
with one or two of our beft guides, to find .a paffage to Ticonderoga, and do his 
utmoO: for the dC'fence ·of that garrifon, .as an artillery officer,iliould the enemy 
attack that fortr:efs after the convcmion1hould take place. 

Q. Have you the return of General Gates's army, figned by himfelf? 
A. I have; but I have forgono bring the 'Original. I have the extraCt. 

[1eeads. ] "Gopy from General Gates s return , from his camp' at Saratoga; ' 

" Brigadiers 
" Colonels 

Z"6th Oaober, 177 7. 

" Lieutenant Colonels 
'" Majors 

• ," Captains 
" Firft Lieutenants 
'" SecoRd Lieutenants 
" Enfigns 

of' Ohapla:ins 
" Adjutants 
+, ~arter-mafters 
" Paymafters 
of' SurgeoAs 
.. , Mates 
" Serjeants 
"" nrummers 
" Pl'efent fit for duty 

I ,underftand ,thefe laft .are rank and file, 
" Sick prefent 
" Sick abrent 
" On command 
'" .on fUAOW 

lZ 

44-
45 
49 

344 
~13z 
3a.6 
3+5 

5 
411 
44 
30 

37 
-+3 

1392-
636 

13,216." 
becaufe the others are mentioned befor.e. 

622 
73 1 

3875 
180." 

1 believe 'tbat the men ·on command were explained to me by General Gates to 
have been detached from his army, in the ifear and upon the flanks of the king's 
troops. plieviobls to the ~onvention. 

'99, Q. Do you apprehend that that return includes , the corps that were ~n the other 
,fide of the HuMon's River" immediately oppofne to Saratoga? 

A. I do recolleCt the name of one of the general officers who was on the other 
fide of the Hudf(:m's River, included in Mr.'Gates's rettJrn, -and therefore I imagine 
the men under his command are included alfo. When 1 fay one, I do Dot mean to 
have underftood' that the other two ,general officers, the one who was ftationed 
. with a party <>ppofite ro Saratoga, and ,the one who wa ftationed on the fame fide 
of the water, bttween us and Fort Edward, .are not alfo included in General 
.oates 's.return. 

... <t..Do 
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~ Do the returns to which you referred of our army ftate the effeCtive ftrengtb, 100. 
at the time.of figning tbe convention? 

A. They do fiate the rough number, colleCted at that time, of men prefeot and 
under arms. 

State the numbers. 
The Britifu appeared to have b~en '''90 5 
Germans - 1594-

I can't be an{werable for the c·orreCtnefs of thofe number, a they erc taken in 
Q great hurry. 

Q : Can there poffibly be a miftake of many h\l\1dreds , 
A. I -ean fiate rom a monthly return of the lid1 of ovember, fit f, duty, 

Britifu - - 2.086 } 
Germans - _ 16 3 ~ R!l and file. 

lot . 

1 0 . 

There might be people re ave ed from their wounds who were difcbarged from 
the hof~ital, and had joined t.he c~rps; or there might have b en a ~ifbk in lil 
tecum, Jufi before; tbe convention, 10 the confufion of the army t that-mne. 

<t.. Do you remember \ hat paffed refpefring tbe military che1l, while the tr ty t 03' 
of Saratoga was depending? 

A. I do rem mber that it was ftrongly recommend d to the con1mandi g fficcr 
of corps to take (ums of money from the paymafter general, on ccount of fubfiftence 
then due to their regiments' and I believe a gr t deal of money was fo diftributed, 
and regularly accounted for to the paymafter general on the fubfequent (ettlcnlent of 
the pay of the army. 

<l.: What became of the reft of the money in the military cheA: ? 
A. It was taken by the paymafter general to Alban)'. 
Q.. Did any part of it fall into the hands of the enemy? 
A. Not a £hilling that I ever heard of. 
Q., Was any proportion of it loft, embezzled, or fecrered ? 
A •. If any fuch thing had happened, I think the paymaft r ge rat ould have 

apl"liedt!O me immediately. Never having heard, then or at any time aft r, of 
any lofs having been fufrained, I do not believe there was "y lofs {uffered in the 
retreat or .after it. 
~ Was the fecret fervice account, during the campaign, kept by you? 
A .. It was. 

J04-

106. 

107. 

Q. Could you produce the feveral artic1e~ of that account, if called on for IO~. 
it? 

A. I have eitl\er a copy of i at home of my own, or from the paYn1acte(' 
general. 
~ Did General Burgoyne ever appropriate any part of that expendirure to t e 109. 

extraordinaries of his 'Own expenccs, or to any other purpofe far hi own ufo f 
A. Never that I know of. 

110. Q:. Mull: not you ve knpwn it if it had been fa? 
A. ,ertainly. 
Q.:.. Were there not occafienl where General Burgoyne paid, from btl Owtl p\lrfe, 11,f. 

cxpeoces that, in the opinion of others, he might have been j uftified in placlOg to 
the public account? • 

A. I 



a 

lU. 

us· 

116. 

liS. 
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• A. I remember to h:.ive been told by otb r g~ntle~en, ~hat e;xpences of that fort 
General Burgoyne had been at, ought to have been ch~rged m that manner. 

ct. What w:ls.tbc natur~ of thore expence:; ? 
A. They were pr rents to people who had difiingui1hed themfelves, a~d i.n atl:s 

of charity to women who had Ion their hufbands, and other occafions. whIch It '\! '~s 
very proper fo a genr:ral officer t give, and very proper to put Into a publIc 
account. 

0.:: Had npt General Burgoyne, from his fituati9n, all the expences 'attending 
a Commander in Chief? 

A. He certainly had, from being obliged to keep a pubrc table for the entertain­
ment and refrefhment of officers and others coming to head quarters, on duty or 
bufincfs; and I ]mow thofe expences to have been very great, from the xceeding 
high price of al1 the articles ()f life in that part of the world. 

Q Did General Burgoyne ever r ceive more than the appointment of a liclltcnant 
general? 

A. Never. c 

0.:.. Was there not a boqrd of general officer$ appointed at Cambridge, to iofpeEt 
all the accounts of the campaign; and did not General Burgo}'~e regulate the pay­
ment of the battalions by ·the report of that bQ3rd ~ 

A.. There was fuch a board, and the paym. nts w re regulated according to the 
report of that board. 

Q... Upon the whole of wh ~ y kn w, of General Burgoyne's receipts and 
expences, do you believe he WlS. in his own purfe, a gainer or a fuffere in the 
campaign 1777 I • " 

A. ~ really believe his aPL)ointrn.ents were not Cluat to his expenees in that 
e~mpalgn. 

Examined qy otber Memoirs of 'he Committtl' (It/d' l1J General Burgoyne occafiOllal1y .. 

Q:,.. What were the numbers of.tl1e effeCtive B"ritilh,. at the openi'ng of the cam­
paign 1777, including officers aQd non.colThffiiffioned officer > 

A. I have not thofe r turns.;. but they were fe.nt to the. Commander in Chiefl 
and my extra~ are for the tank and file. 
~ Can you 3nfwer that quefiion with refpetl: to the Germans ~ 
A. My extraers are the fa,mc. both for the riti1h and e G rmans .. 
Q:.. What was the greatefb number of Frovincials in the army at any time in t11e 

campaign? 
. A: I believe the on.ly ueftion that has been aike.d r fpeClring the.m was t the be­

gmnmg of the campaIgn;. they were then eighty-three. On the firft of September 
'they amounted to about fix hundred and eighty, which w.as th g~eateft n m»er 
they ever amounted to. 
~ W at do yQU.m1:~ by Provincial > 
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A. I nd rftand tbem to e inh b tan s t>f that coun r', ~{fem led un r ter 
who,were to have had different commiffions, provided they h dram unted 
cert:un numbers. 

Q:., Do you fnc1ud Cartat1ian~ under the n me ofPr vinci I 
A. believe, in the former part of m e iden'Ce, lhe 'C adi '\i ere fio d to 

Ht. 

one huridr d d fort -eight, and ifiin uifhed (tom the r in i 1 . 
~ \-Vas General Burgoyne's fecond order of th t\ Ifth of ~uly, reI ting to the lU. 

ba Ii e, Il:ricUy ol11plied with? 
A. I conceive it wa the duty of the commanding offie rs of ~gim nts 0 enforce 

an obfervance and 0 edience to the gene al 0 dr. 
Q:.. ras it a \!ally enforced in fuch manner to the gr e you b Ug1ltit fu u1 I'll­

have b en? 
A. I am not quite pofitive whether there was no :lOother order ilfued fter­

, ards. 
r lidlim 1'~eattd. ] 124. 

A. I never had any report made to me by :l commanding fficer a Y'COfl' , of 
tha t>rrler 110 being complied with. 

~. Whae was your own ocul r fervati-on of the qClan' of bn g-age c Tried 125. 
With the army; and did it app r 0 you that hat ord r c Id huv e n i· irly com­
plied .. ith? 

A. I own I on't recollect, not hearing any omplaint nor a tending to it. The 
q\ arter mafter general of the army muft natur By kno v more 'Of the ba gnge thun 
[he adjutant general. 

Q Do you know what allowance of waggons as made to a r gim nt! 
A. I d n't recolleCt any wnggons that we had to alia v. 
Q.. Was none of the bagga~e brought down in heeled carriage ? 
A. "evelal officers, I belteve, bought waggons and carts f th conntl1r p ople 

fOr thelil' O'v:n ufe; but I do not remember My of he kin ' cart or ,va ns bl"ing 
appropriated to the carriage of officers' baggage. It might be, but I dOll r ecolle 
it. 

u6. 

Q.. Can you faYI in a general way, how many horre might be eqlployed in car- us. 
ryihg the aggage of tile army,' including officer ' ho'rf~ ? 

A. I never had any information upon th t fll je ; it did not belon, to my de- 129. 
part'ment, and (had much bufin f! on h'ly'hands. 

<t.. How was the regimental baggage carried? 
A. I believe chi fiy in bateaux. 
Q. How as it carried when there was no wnter.carriage 130. 
A. I can't fpeak to that point, having had no inti rmution on that iubjecc; n 

'When I (peak of bateaux, 1 fpeak genera ly, having had no information on th 
fi bjed. 

Q. Can you fay, in ageherat ay, bow many women attended the army? 
A. I had really fo mIlch to do that I had not m ell leifure to' pay much attention to 

the ladi s; and I now very little of their beauty or their numbers. 
Q:" \Vould Douhe feeding of two thou[and wbhlen be a confiderable obje~ with '32. 

re(lreCt 0 the rovifions of die 'arm ? 
A. I 

1 
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A. I 1hould have been very forry to have had two thoufand women to have 
experienced that. 

<t. How many women were there, if not two thoufa~d ? . 
A. I would wifu to give t e houfe every information 10 my pow~r, w hr~an 

(peak wich any degree of accuracy or tolerable guefs. I have feen the ~ommlf­
fary of provifions return, and I think the number of women returned, as VICtualled 
from the aores, were very very few. 

Q.. Do you think that a corps of dragoons mounted would have been of great 
ufe to the army? 

A. I own, I very much wiChed thofe few dragoon we had could. have been 
mounted, becaufe, though in that part of America that I faw they might not have 
been neceffary or ufeful to have made a charge, 1 think thofe light dragoons might 
be al ways applied to very ufeful fervices. 

Q: How many had you of thofe dragoons? 
A. They are included in the ftrength of the Germans, and I really do not re­

member their particular number. 
Q. If none or lefs of the park of artillery had J?een brought forward, would there 

not have been horfes to have mounted thofe dragoons? 
A. I believe there might have been horfes enough taken from the artillery, or 

from the provifion train, to have mounted thofe dragoons, if it had been thou~ht 
more expedient to have employed t e horfes in that manner; but they were hired 
or contraCted for, for the fpeeial purpofes of carrying provifions, and bringing on 
the artillery, and never meant by the perfons who furnifhed the <;:ontrafl for the dra­
goon fervice. 

<l:.. If a fmaller quantity of baggage had been carried, might not the officers have 
fpared fome of their baggage horfes for mounting the dragoons? 

A. I never met with an officer who had horfes to f~re. I know Sir Francis 
Clarke and myfelf wiChed to buy horfes to carry our own fervants; cared very 
little what expence we were at, and yet I could not obtain aay. 

<l:.. Do you know of any corps or party finding their way back to Ca­
nada? 

A. I never heard of any corps finding its way there; and I underftood from 
!he guides who- were with us, previous to the convention's taking place, that 
If that was attempted, we mull: break into fmall parties, and go by what is 
Ci:alled J ndian paths. 

Q.:,. Suppofin there was a fmall party that found its way to Canada by In­
dian path) do- you think it would have been pomble for an army to have dane 
rlle fame? 

A. My idea of that muft be founded upon the report of thDfe guides who. 
l1ad ferved us very faithfully as fcouts upon former occafions, and who, inform­
~d me tbilt we muO: break into very fmall parties, to have any ch nee of mak: 
109 our way thtOugh the woods to Canada; and I remember that when General 
Phillips offered' to attempt to find his way to, Ticonderoga, it was talked of aDd 
looked an to be· as de.fperate as gallant. 

Q. If any patty did make its way to Canada, do yuu. not fUI?pofe it muO: 
be 
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fhat party of pro 'neials that ran awn while they ere mploy d to repair 

toads. and that were never heard of afterward ? 
A. I am mber fome were 'reported to h e run a ay who \fere m illg road , 

and it 11 likely tt> ha been tbat party. 
Q. When you m ntioned the highefr numBer of provincial, did you m aD 141• 

that thc:y we. -all armed? 
A. I bo that the ere aot all armed. We h d' not arm fi r 
~ Of t ofe- cltat v re armed, 1i me refpeCtnble petlfon exe p d, 

much to be depended upon? 
they 141 .. 

A. A very grea patt <>f bem were fuch as I ihould have placed ve y little de­
pell1 eoce u on 

<l.:.. Before the army 1 Fe Canada, was there not a ftriCt order, th t Mt m r th 0 , 14:1. 
three w mtn a cOffil :nJ ihould be fuff'ered to embark ~ 

A. I do know tbere was fuob an order iffued, and I never heard' any: cam .. 
plaint of it'S hav.ing been broke tbrough. I don't r coHe& tbe cl c

e 
f th t r­

d r, or I would h~ v tur ed to my book, nd fulred to the haufe, upon th 
fitft que ' dn rdttive to th umber of women that were employ d on our eJUo 
pedition. 

Q. s it not the clifiom in all armies victualled from the kin ' ft re', to pro- 1# 
hibit th deliv.ery of provifions to any women er and above the nun'lb r .llowe 
by order? 

1\. It was cuftomary in all place where I ferv.ed in ~be Jafi ar, and ve 
thong and peremptory orders were given 0 that fubjet\:: to the commi1farics in 
o r army. 
~ . a you not then believe, mat aU warne who followed your army were 145-

fed trom e ration. of the m n they fallowed, or found. th ir provifion in he ' 
~ountry ? 

a I remember, upon a1king h !(i:ommiffarres how here came to be fa few 
women in tb~ pr incial 1'1 turn, 1 w.as. to d, it ' was the CiU ftom , for them to e 
fupplic1d out of h III n's r tio s. 

Q:.. Were the women conveyed on, baggage· carta or horfes, .. or. did they, walk 1146 .. 
a-foot?, . 

A. '1 n~~ heard of ~ women's being conveyed' on gg~ge anrts or me king'i 
rfi s • 

. ~ If the women l neither employed the king's horfes" nor confumcd i pro- 147 .. 
ifions, do,you, think they were mor~ of jmpedim nt, or of com rt to th Iv ng'l 

troops? 
A~ I' never undtrtlood from my convcrfation with the commanding officers, or 

others, tbat the women were any impediment. 
Q:.. If after the taking of Ticonderoga there was any doubt in the army in which 148. 

au {; rv.ed, of their. bei able to reach Albany r 
A. 1. don't remember to have heard any doubt expreff'ed upon that fubjefr, mean-

. foon after th~ taking Tic ndtroga.. . . . 
~ W it generally un e ftood in the army, that 1 W3 wa well fupph. d It 149" 

31 die neceifarie<;, appointments for war, and a tide proper for forwardmg the 
expedition. to lb oy.? 

A I 
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'A. I ·always undedtood ·that ·the army had been 'very well .fupplied with evert 
thing. . G 

iI.S.' Q. Do you believe, if the fecrerary of ftate had ordered the army under . e-
neral Howe to co-operate with the army under General Burgoyne f~r the North 
tRiver with view ;to Ihave formed tbe junction of the two armies, that the 
difaft;r which befel General Burgoyne's army could have happened? . 

A. Jf a junCl!ion could have been formed, J ihould apprehend that Mr. Gates", 
army might have .been ditlodged, and ... hat the ,misfortl1ne at .Saratoga 'would not 
have happened. This is only rna ter of opinion. • 

1.5.1. I~ Do :you apprehend, that if the army llnder Sir WiUiam Howe had. ope-
:rated on the North River; with a view to effect a junCtion, that fuch a Junc 
tion would have taken place.? 

A. I had an opinion while ·in Amerioo, hat if the expeditiQn which came up: 
-the Hud[on's tRi er under .General Vaughan, could have have been there about 
the time of·our action of the 19th of September, that Mr. ·G3.te .would have 
found it difficult to have ke t his army together, if he h~d not cro!fed over 
the Hudfon's ,River towards ew England. But .this 1S mere matter of private 
opinion . 

.L5Z. .~ ·If ,you are of opinion, that dIe ·.troops under General ¥-aughan would have 
. 11ad 10 powerful an effeCt, even I l~te as September, what .effect do you ,think 

Sir William Howe's army, affined by all the fleet and craft, would have had 
as early as the beginning of July, immediately after the impreffion ·which took 
4' lace among the enemy after the, defeat at Ticonderoga? . 

A. I did not know what force tbere was under the command of General Vaughan, 
'Dor do I even now know; but I ihould think moil: certainly, that a great army 
,upon the Hudfon's ;River near Alban.y? would have contributed very muc to our 
making our w,a.y .to Albany. I 

r153. .~ Have you ever confide,ed what were the caufes of .-the failure of the ex-
pedition under General ·Burgoyne, and to what do .yoo impute it ? 

A. I looked upon our force not to be equal to .the fotcing our ray to Al· 
bany w.ithout fome co-operation. 

J 54. Q.. Where then did you expeCt: that co-operation? 
.A. I.had .no wh~re to expetl ,it from, but up the Hudfon's River <from New 

York; and the fuccefs of Colenel S. Le$er's expedition would have been Qf 
ufe cert iDly • 

.155. Q;..If fleneral Walbington's army ,haa ·net been . diverted, . would it not have 
impeded, or ftopped the progrefs of any army up the Hudfon's River. 

J\. :I don't .know the ftrength of Ge,neral Wafhington's arm, nor the ·nature of 
the country between Albany and New York; and therefore 1 cannot form ' an}'! 
jud 11 t of what} 'ould have .happened. 

:l56. . Q. Are .Y0l.l not of ~pillioll that there are .very ftrong paffi 5 or pons on that 
river; 

A. ·1 found them very fhong between TioonderogQ aDd Albany~ and from re 
ports of mili ary men of high .reputati0l1 in the fervice, I have underftood there 
were many ery fhong 'poils between New York and Albany. 

J'51. Q.:. r m whence is tbe account of the ftrength of .Mr. Gates's ,army taken? ~ . 
,.. A. From 
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A. From a return voluntarily given by General Gates to me ~ r mown {j tis-
feCtion when at Albany, and that return was figned by General Ganes. 

Q.. Have you that return ? 
A. I gave ir to G eneral Burgoyne ; I faw it to-day; he 1 as it. 
Q Was it by con(ent of Gen ral Gates tha the fc Idiers after the convention r • 

tained their cartouch-boxes? 
A. They retained their belts, and I re:lIly don't r colleCt whether their c r­

touch boxes were in general r rained or not: but talking with Mr. G t s h n 
. the king's troops marched by with the accoutrements on, Mr G"\tcs alked me 

(v had been old acquaintance formerly) whether it was not cuft mar on field 
days for arms and accoutrements to go together? I told him, there was nothing 
faid in the convention that I had agreed to with him relating to the accou­
trements, and that be could have no right to any thing but what wa fiipulured 
in that treaty. He replied, "You are perfeCtly right in and turned to fome of 
the officers in their fervice by, and faid, " If we meant to have had t m we ugbt 
" to have inferted them in the convention:', (WitMre'UJ. 

REMARK5 

'5 8• 



Review of the Evidence; ;t! flveral ParH compared ith tt 
prefatory Speech and Narrati",'e; and additional Remarks and 

Expl'afztJtions. 

T HE noble Lord who is at iffue with me upon this 0Ct3fion has, in great mea. 
fure, deprived me of the b nefit of a reply, properly fI c Bed, bee. ufe he ha 

proou ed no defence. His Lordfuip cert il11y has ben accllfed by me in lTltlny 
inftances 0 a: very ferious nature. If he is re lIy willing that his politic 1, nd my 
military conduct: fhould be tri d by faCts atone, I cert ioly h v not fhewn J fs ncli· 
nation than his Lordfhip for that teil:; but, caKed as I avow he has b en by me, with 
proceedings derogatory to the obligations which ought to fubfill: betw n man Imd 

man, I really expeCted, as I believe did the Houfe of ommons and the public, t 
have heard from him fome juftification in thofi refpects. lnftead of tha, thl, noble 
Lord, in opening the fubjects to which he propoftd to call .videnc, touched fOt 
nightly upon the branch of the enquiry in which w are parties, that a ftr nge~ woulcl 
hardly have tl ought there fubfifted a difpuce between us. His ordfhip "ontradicted 
nothing that I have alledged refpecring his conduct or my own; he ftated nc.. circum-
france of blame againft me, except he meant as fuch the encerpr,ize of Bennington, 
which he qualified . with the epithet "fatal," and pronounced ,to be th c:lI1fe of U 
the fllbfequent misfortunes. He palfed entirely over the tranfaCl:ions at Sar toga. 
Of forty officers or more, belonging to .the Convention troops, then in England, one 
only was propofed to be called on his Lordfhip's parr, viz. Lieutenant Colonel. 
Sutherland, of the 47th regir;nent, upon parol~ from the Congrefs, and aCl:ing with a 
<:orps of the Fencible Men in North Britain ~ bu. upon further r flection, his ord. 
{hip thought proper to difpenfe with the attendance of this officer; and rhe only 
-""itnefs under order of the Haufe was Mr. Sl enc. No man was better qualified to 
give an account of the proceedings at Bennington; and I heartily lament th t tho 
public is ~eprived of his teftimony. . 

But although I am thus left in polfeffion of the evidenc~ uncontroverted by the 
Ifloble Lord, I avail myrelf of my right ..of clofing the eaufe, for the fol- laim 'Of G~ 

following purpofes : firft to .coHea: from the rninmes (which: in an enquiry of this ~1'::1~ tt~e to 
nature, are unavoidably pr lix and difarr nged) the {cattered part. and appJy them c ufo. 

to facts, under diftinCland feparate heads. Next, to examine whether the fatts {which, Mode ofpr 

rom the fiIence of the noble Lord, I am to a(fume as admitted by him) are in any ceeding • 

.refpect .1l;lvalidated py the crofs examination 0f the w1~neffi s by other g ntlemen. And' 
o . bru~ 

.. 
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REVIEW OF THE EVIDENCE. 

JaO:ly, to explain ruch circurnO:ances, and anfwer fuch new and collateral abjeCl:ions, as 
have been pointed at in the [arne crols examination, and were omitted, or .only nightly 

noticed in my opening, becaufe they did not exift, or were not deemed pomble objeCts 

of blame or cavil. In purfuing thefe purpofes, J 1hall confider. the proofs precifely 
in the order of the f Cts to which they are produced. 

Though the firft circumftance I took notice of in my opening, viz. my candlla: 

refpeCting ir Guy Carleton, was rather an infmu-ation tban an allegation againO: me, 
I thought it right that it fuould be the firO: overthrown by evidence; for while it 

r mained in any degre of force, it gave a general tinge, as it was meant ta do, to 

my whole caufe. I could not but expeCt even the virtuous prejudices of tht: human 
heart to be againft me, whilft it was pomble to be conceived that in abfence of the 

commander .in chief, to whom I had aCl:ed fecond; whofe attent"on I had conftantly 

experienced; and with whofe confidence I was then honoured; I had praCtifed un. 
manly and adulatory intrigue to fuperfede him in a favourite objt:a: of command.­
There are fi w worfe modes of betraying a fuperior officer to be found upon the records 
of di!honour; and whoever reflects upon the degree of odium with which the moft 

palliated aCts of that fpecies have been received by mankind, will not wonder at or 

condemn my impatienc~, in applying my firft queftian.ll to Sir Guy .Carleton to that 
particular object. Clear as my j uftification ftood by the 1 tter formerly referred to, 
(No. II.) I !hall be forgiven for obtaining, though with fome redundancy,. a full and 
fatisfactory confirmation of my inno~ence, from the verbal tefiimony of the party 
whom I was fuppofed to have injured. ' 

It may 'be proper here to obferve, that the abovementioned afperfion, to which I 
have fo often adverted, and at which I have ftrove in vain for due terms to exprefs my 
indignation, was not the only one caft upon me refPetting Sir Guy Carleton. When 
impartial and candid men revolted at the infinuation of my treachery, my prefumption 
and infolence (a leffc:r but frill a calumnious charge) was pointed out in that part of the 
paper (No. 111.) that treats of the force to be left in Canada, and the difpofition of it. 
I am pleafed with the queflions in the crofs examination of Sir Guy Carleton, marking 
the prefcribed diftribution of the troops, &(. (3 8, 39, 40, 4 1, 4'2, 43.) becaufe that 
enquiry affords me an opportunity of ju11ifying myfelf in a point which 1 have not 

taken notice of before. The pofts, and the troops which I imagined would be ne­

ccffary to occupy them, were fpecified merely to fuew that the number of 3000 was 

indifpenflbly rcquifite for the defence of the 'province. The whole of that detail COn­

curred with General Carleton"s 'reqtlifitions for reinforcement, and with my reafonjng 

upon thofe reqllifitions; and wh~n I affert, as· I now do, that I never prefllmed to 

fiJgg ft the neceffity or propriety of forming a detail of pacts, (thus given for jnforma_ 
I 

tion) 
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inform tion) into precife orders for the general upon the ~ I :tm fure tbe (ecl' ur 
of ftare will no more contr dia: that ill rtion th n he h s d I oy other I h ve 

mad. 
When in the fame paper I confidentially communicat d my re fI n f r I rer. rri r\ , Ill. 

certain corp to thers, I was achult d by the fame princi le 0 offi rina v ry opi­
nion that could conduce to m ke the intended fer ice effe u I. 1 thou h it 'u ft 
claim in an arduous undertaking, to have m 0\ n choice of the tr . nd I am 

I erfuaded Sir Guy Carleton never to k ill 0 me, eith r th , t claim, r 

one in the fame paper, of being held frc from an imput tion 0 d \ y 
be clear of the pro inee f ~lcbec. ith an unfcign d nfid nee in ir ll)' rl-
ton, I thought it a precaution fully jufiifi hIe, to ~ ure m r 1 inn th r , ill the 
numerous and complicat d dep rtments under him, who might be found 1 f! equi-

table than he is. • 
I know I ha\~e before coml)lained of the produCl:ion of th ~ ij cret communica­

tions; but after fo many pr ceJenrs as the ) ft {fion furtli1hed, f \'ithh luing 
parts of correfpondences from Palliamcm, upon the plea th t t!l y might if\: tn­

dividuals, the noble Lord's filel1ce upon thofe mplaint, iv s me ri ht ill 

to comment upon the finifter purpofe th t are to ue afcribe to the roduClion of 
that paper at length, rather than by xtra • Thore purl ofe w ere variou j u it 
muft be confe!fed one, and only one, good effec rna refult from a r view of hem, 
viz. It may 1i rve as a falutary caution to any oR'i er, who {hall f, r the future be ad­
mined into confultation with the fame miuifier, how he commit him£ If by an opi­

niOll of men and things. 
The next point that I entered upon previoufly to my narrative, wa the t nor f 

my order, and I believe it , as generally expeaed that the no Ie ord would have 

taken fome notice of the faa: 1 alledgen, that ewry difcretionatJ latitutU which I had 
propoJed was eraftd, while the plan wa.J in his band. As his ord01ip had fo much c m· 
mented upon the nature of peremptory orders, as a gentral queftion, in my al!>fence. it 

would have been fair in him to have reafoned upon them after that import nt and 

decifive circumfrance was laid open. 

The general id .. a of forcing a way 10 Albany, which the army at its outfet con-
ceived, by reafoning upon the apparent principles of the campaigl, without p rtici­

pation of the letter of the ord rs is clear, from the general tenor of the evidence. 

I wifhed, it is true, to ha heard more copioully the fentiments of Sir Guy Carle on, 

becaufe be h d full participation of the orders. From the temp r and judgment that 

always diree\: his condua, he declined giving an opinion at the bar upon what might 

become a queftior. in the Houfe. But I have fince,Cupon requeft) received hi per-

miffion to publi1h a letter from him to me, dated foon after the Convent jon of Sara. f . 0 . ' loga, 
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toga, which is in the Appendix No. X. and with this reference I clore my re­
iew of the prefatory matte~ which I laid before the Committee. 

RevitW of the firjl brio". 

Moft of the cireumfiances flared in my Narrative refped:ing the firft period of the 
aampaign, were, from their nature, to be eftabli[hed by written teftimony; and the 
papers, No. VII. and VIII. in the Appendix, were added to thofe befor produ.­
ced for that purpofe; but the returns of the troops, No. XI, are moreover au-

Strength of thenticatee:l by the proper official authority, the adjutant general, and the detail of 
the army., 

the artiller.y. by the Major of brigade in that department. 
From the evidence of the latter, is al'fo confirmed all that I advanced refpeCting the 

Proportion opinion and recommendation of Major General Philips, for the proportion of artille­

tvid~~~:~f ry employed; for the moderate quanti~ of it, comparatively with the principles and 
apt. Bloru- praeHce of other fervices, and for the great expeCted ufe of artillery in the country 

field, from 
q~lcft"4. to 9 •. whene we were to aa~ 

The ufos of. 
it. Capt in. 
Blomfield 
fromqueftjon 
:LQ to 17. 
Evidence of 
Lord Dalcar­
ns, from 
queftion q. 
to 19. 
Lord' Balcar­
ras's crofs 

Had thefe opinions been mere't ij)eculative, the intelligence of the perfens from 
whom they came would have given them fufficient authority. But fortunately they 
are verified by faas; for it appears from a multitude' of evidence, that the enemy 
made the true ufe of local ad vantages: they fortified every pafs or proper poft =- the 
nature of the country, and the neceffity of keeping the banks of rivers, made it 
impoffible to turn thofe pofts;' had I wanted therefore artillery, I could not have 
proceeded any given ten miles, but at a heavy xpence of my beft troops~ When it 
was found that I was provided with that forcible arm, the enemy invariably quit­
ted their entrenchments, either to retreat, or fight upon ground where they fuppofed 
artillery could be leaft effeauall" employed. . lam to t>hank the honourable member» 

exnmina,ion, whatever his intentions might have been, who by his crofs examination placed the 
q hoft. 9;, 940· . I .1~d . r. 1 

Lord Balcar., 
J';1S, q.lleft. S. 
Lord H r-
rington, 
<,(llcflion 4.. 

March (rom 

expediency of carryilig the tram U1, 1.0 £0 C ear a view. 
The only remai ing faa: of the firft period to which v.erhal evidence is appli-. 

cable, viz., The tmpoffibility of .following the enemy further than they were follow­
ed in their precipitate retreat from Ticonder.oga, is e1l:ablifhed by Lord Balcarras, afld. 

by Lcr.d Harrington. 

RevitW of the lteOIllJ Period! 

In entering upon tlie evidence w1:iich refpeCts the firfr tranfliCtion of the fe­
period, \'iz. the march from Skene£borough to Fort Edward" I cannot help Skene!bo- cond 

Tough to FQrt • 
'dward. 

4 obfervil1g 
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obferving how much of the b18:me imput d to me has been occafioned by mifrepre­
fentation from perfoos wh fe bufinefs it was to d cry my aCtions; and by uncom-

91 

mon miflakes in tbe geography of the country by thofe to vhom my action w rt' . lill kes in 
mifreprefented. By the crufs examination of lord Bal arras)t muft be fllppo(en, geolrl·lIphy. 

that the peru ns wh~ fufpeCl:ed I erred in not taking the route by South Ea aft r the Lord B ~.c -
• . r~18, QIlCn.90. 
fuccefs at Tlconderoga, did not know where Soutb Bay wa. The 1i em equally ig-
norant of the fituation of ,Pitch-pille Plains, by the que1\ion immediatel following Q,gefii n 91 •. 

the former one; and if mull have been a furprife to the enquirer t find that t c 
«,oute which they were inclined to appro~e, was precifely that which the m in body 
of the army took under me in perfon, and with fuch effeCl:, as to come uI with the 
Iear of the enemy and drive them from their fortified poft at Skenefuorou h, with the-
10fs' on their part of five armed veffels and all the reft' of their wat r· craft. 

But it may be faid, this part of the crofs-examination, thou b in mprehenfiblc in 
point of geograpby, ftill applied to the quefrion taken notice of in my u:mative~ viz. 
" Whether it would not have been mor.e expedient to r turn to Ticonclcrago; and 
, take tbe route by: Lake G.eorg~, than to proceed" as I did, by the Pitch Pine Plains-

" to Fort Edward ?" . 
I {hall not recapitulate th various motives l' have before ftated in fupport of that 

pr ference, having publickly in my favour the opinion of an officer fo enlightened in 
military fcience, and fo well acquainted irh the country as Sir Guy Cadeton ;. and 
never having heard a difference of opinion in any other officer of a like defcl'ipti n, 
to reft much more upon a fubjeCt fo [uppor,ted by rcafoning and by fuccers, might be 
c~nllrued an attempt to divert the attenti'on of my examiners from points leCs de-

Sir"Gl1yC,1'>­
Jeton, quefi. 
9. 10. 

fenfible. I therefore {hall oDl}l add two {bort remarks; the one, that the faa: of onftd r::l1)(0 

gaining confider-able time by altorting the whole u rvice of the water. craft to the till e gain d 
by til army 

tranfport of provifion anu ftores over Lake George, inllead of employing great part taking th 

of it for the tran(port of the troops is- it conteftably proved by the evidence of Cap- r~~'~r~ ~~t 
tain Money and Lieutenant Colonel Kingfton :. the ' other, tbat to have reached rort land. 

Edward with the troops foooer than th 29th of July (th day th t die £irft em- nptllin Mo-
ney. quell. 4 

barkation of provifions arrived at Fort George) would not only hav~ bean urc l ef~,. to queft. 11. 

but alfo highly impolitic; becaufe the fubfiftence of the troops:l. Fort E<.lw~tf(J, be- .tK·j. Iltft 1. 
111 ,,(on, 

fore tbearrival of that embarkation, mu.ft. have bean brought by land carria c qud. 'l .. 

through much di cult road all the way from Fort Anne, when, on the contr ry, 
by remaining in t ." neighbourhood of Skenefuorough till tbe paffllge of Lake eorgo 
wa~ ffe8:ed, exc1ufively of the confiderations of covering the removal of the ho-
{pitalof H'uberton, and alarming theConncfri ut by the politi n of General Reide ... 
fel's corps, the army was commodioufly fuppliesi by Water· carriage 

1It. See- a1eo the map' of country'. . 'l1h 
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The next eire lm£l:ance (or examin:ltion, according to the order of the NarrMi\ e, 
is the tranfport of the magazines of provilions, &c. from Fort George; and· it is 
highly incumbent upon me to fhcw the di cl1lties of that operation, becaufe, if they 
were avoidable, it muft be acknowledged one of the principal grounds upon which 
I vindicate the 'plan of the exp dition to Bennington will fail me. 

But I am perfuaded, tvery ' candid examiner wiH firft indulge me in a {bort paule. 
It will be recoJlecred, tbat rhis is the only part of the c mpaign p n which the no­
ble Lord h s laid his finger, as judging it produd:i:ve of the' fubfequent events. The 
crofs-examination had already been preffed upon the fame id as. uch want of knoW'­
ledge of the nature of tranfpon in that country has been betrayed; fo much prepof­
fdlion of unnec ffary delays has appeared; fuch emphafis of quellion has attended 
every circumftance of my conduct at this period, that I filall ftan d acquitted of pro­
lixity, if 1 prefa.:e tlie application of the fubfequent evidence by a more comprehe -
five and complete furvey of the difficulties and anxieties of my fituation than I thought 
wa-s nece{fary before. . 

The combiL,atioll of arral'lgemellt for feediogthe amlY might, in faCt, be flated to 
have extended even to Ireland; for fQlne part of the fupply depended upon the vic­
tuatling fleet which was prepared in that country, ~ccordil'lg to my requilition before 
1 left London, and had not reached ~ebec when the army took the field. The te· 
dioufnefs of the navigation from Quebec to the mouth of the Sorel need not be agaill 
defcril"ed. The ne~t embarraffinent was to manage the conveyance fi)( that part of 
the fupply which came from Montreal, and which was much the greatefr, without 
interfering with the tranfport w:hich with equal neceffity was to be expedited up the 
Saint Lawrence to Lake Ontario, for the fervice of Colonel St. Leger'S .expedition, 
~md the immenfe freres (then nece{fari)y upon the move 9lfo) for the winter main­
tenance of thellpper country. To there might be added a lift of chances and incon· 
veniences, incident to the carrying places between Chambl.ee and Saint John's; the 
uncertaintainty afterwards of the pa{fage over Lake Champlain, and Lake George; 
the l~borious and flow operations of drawing the bGats over the ifthmus which di· 
vides the two Lakes. There together make a (yftem of embarra1I'ments and difap. 
pointments hardly to be conceived by tho(e who have not experienced them. 

But although the whole of this arrangement{the furnilhing the upper cvuntrr .ex­
cepted) was made under my dire&ion, I have <hem content to date my c:tifficulties 
from the lodgement o( the fupplies at Fort George; and I have touched the other 
parts only to fhew more perfpicuoul1y (he \infairnefs of judging of an American capt­
paign upon European ideas. How zealoufly foever a general. in fuch an undertak­
ing as .mine, may b.e fuved by the ~hiefs of departments (and much praife it d~e 

from 
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ftom me upon that (core) for one hour he can find to contemplate bow h! jball fight his 
arm, he muft allot twenty to contrive how to fud it. 

The behavio~r of the Indians is a circumlbnce too material to e paffed over in a 
review of the anxieties in tlus part of the campaign. I had difcerned the caprice, 
the fuperftition, the fe'lf~illtereftedne[s of the Indian charaaer from my firft intercourfc • 
even with thofe nations which are fuppofed to have made the greaten: progrefs towards 
civiiiz:1tion: I mean with thofe called the domicil iated nations near Montreal. I h 1 

been taught to look upon the remote tribes \ ho joined me a Skcn fboroug, as mote 
warlike; but a very little time prov d that, with equal depravity in general prin~iple, 
their only pre-eminence confifted in fer city. The hopes I had plac d in their wild 
honour, and in the contl'oul of their conduCtors, which, as I frated before, at firft had 
been promifing, were foon at an end; and their ill.humour and mU1inous difpofition 
were manifeft foon afte,r my arrival at Fort Edward. The 3pparent caufes of their 
change of temper were the rcfentment I had !hewn upon the murder of Mifs MacTea, 
and the reftraints I had Jaid on their difpofition to commit other enor . ides; but I 
never doubted that their evil paffions were fomented, and their defeCtion completed by 
the cabals of the Canadian interpreters. Rap iey, felf·inter ft, and pre'fumption are 
the charaCteriftics of thefe men, with fame few exceptions. The acquifition of the 
Indian language has ufually been a certain fortune to a man with an artful h ad and 
convenient confcience-. 

To check the Ci)ld praaices of peculation in thefe men, Sir Guy Carleton, with greAt 
judgment, had giveri the fuperintendency of the Indian department to Major CampbU 
and Captain Frazer, gentlemen of the higheft integrity. The Briti!h officers employed 
{olely in the military conduC[ of rh3t deparement. were al[o relected with equal pro­
priety. The interpreters had from the firft regarded with a jealous eye a fyftem 
which took out of their hands the diftribution of Indian necefiilries and prefents; 
but when they found the plunder of the country, as wen ~s that of the government, 
was controuled, the profligate policy of many was employed to promote diffention. 
revolt, and defertion. ' 

I take this oceafion to acquit Monfieur Sr. Luc of any fufpicion of his being con· 
ccrncd in thefe faCtions; but I believe he difcerl'ted them. He c rtainly knew ,that 

, the Indians pined after a renewal of their accuftomed h<?Trors; and that they were , be­
come as impatient of his controul as of all othey, though the pride and j-Otcreft of 
autborjty~ fuld the aff" ion he bore to his old affociates, induced him to cover he real 
caufcs under various frivolous pretences of difcofltent, with which I was daily tor. 
mented, but to which I conftandy attended: and though I differed totally with Saint 
Luc in opinion upon the efficacy of thefe allie~ { invariably took his advice in the 

management 
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